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SOURCES AND ACKNOWLEDGEmENTS: 

In writing a history of the foundations of Goroko, 
a major difficulty for the historian is that much of the 
written material w~1ch would throw light on the early years 
of contact was destroyed during the Japanese invasion of New 
Guinea. Records held at Rnbaul, IYladang, Lao and Salamaua 
were nearly all destroyed in the bombing which preceded the 
capture of these administrative centres, or were hastily 
burnt by government officials who were anxious that no documents 
should fall into Japanese hands. 

However a few records did survive, providing 
invaluable sources of information which help to put into 
perspective the remembered events and oral traditions of 
numerous informants who witnessed or took an active part in 
these -early contacts. Among these documents are IYlr. J. L. 
Taylor's report of the 1933 mt. Hagen Patrol and IYlr. John 
Black 1 s report of his 1934 patrol through the Ben~ ·aona -
Asaro area. There is also a surviving copy of mr. Charles 
Bates' 1933 patrol from Kainantu to Bena Bena; held by the 
Department of External Territories, Canberra, but this has ~ 
no t yo t b e en s eon b y the aut h o r • 1 • As far as c an b o · as c or t CJ'ln e d , 

all government records of patrols in 1935 and 1936 have been 
lost, which is unfortunate as it was in 1936 that IYlr, Jim 
Taylor re-opened the patrol post at Gena Bena and pacification 
of the Asaro Valley peoples was systematically begun. However 
a set of Kainantu patrol reports, covering the period 1937 

to 1941, did survive the War and were discovered in the Kainantu 
Sub-district Office ai recently as 1965. Of particular interest 
are reports referring to the Bona Bena - Asaro aren which 
were written in 1937 by patrol officers T.G. (Tommy) Aitchison, 
Cedric Croft and N.C. (Pompey) Elliott. 

1 • Bates, C.: Patrol Report 25 of 1933, District of 
IYlorobe. Department of External Territories 
archives, Canberra. 
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Reports in the Kainantu file written oft or 1937 
deal almost exclusively with the Kainantu area, with only 
incidental references to Bena Bena and Goroka. One reason 
for this is that at about this time Bena Bon a achi ove d 
independent status as a patrol post and the staff thor e were 
no longer responsible to the officer at Kainantu. Until July 
19 37, the central h(i ghlands as far· west as C himbu wore 
administered as part of the morobe District, with hendquartors 
at Salamaua. This put Kainantu in a pre-eminent position 
as far as lines of communication were concerned, and the 
senior officer in charge was based there. Thus a junior office 
officer such as A.P.O. 'Pompey' Elliott made his reports 
from Bena Bena to the "Officer in Charge~ Ramu", who at 
that time was Patrol Officer 'Tommy' Aitchison. 1

• 

However, at the end of July, 1937, the boundaries 
were re-drawn, the eastern highlands area becoming part of 
the madang District. The alteration is noted in tho 1937-38 
Annual Report to the League of Nations: 

"The effect · of the amendment is to 
include the Kainantu (Ramu), Finintegu, 
Bena Bena and Chimbu posts in the 
madang District. An aeri a l service 
has been established between these

2 places and district headquarters." • 

Thus at the stroke of a pen Bena 8ena became closer to the 
administrative head~uarters than Kainantu, and thereafter 
it is possible to traco a change of emphasis in the relative 
importance of the two centres. The officGrs at Bonq Bena 
in 1938, N.C. Elliot and N.D. 'Sam' McWilliam, undoubtedly 
submitted patrol reports during this period, but as none 
are in the Kninantu file it can be assumed they reported 
directly to the District Officer in madang. 

There is a second -reason for this absence of post-
1937 Bena Bena reports in the Kainantu file. It is explained 
by Patrol Officer Cedric Croft in his report of 17th November~ 

1 • 

2. 

Elliott, N.C. : 

l 
I 
I 
I 

Patrol Report B, 37/38, 20th J~/~ly, 
1937 (Kainantu File). 

1937-38 Report to the Council o f th e Le aou e o~ (!~ a t ions on 
th e Administration of the Te r ritory of New Culnoa, p.24. 

~ . 
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~The policy ha~ been for the Gafuku area 
to be patrol,.ed tram. RAft1U while the 
Bena Bena orficer at $UCh times patrols 
the Gadsup at~a n~ar Ramu. This is 
considered un~ca~sary and a waste of 
time in trav~lltng and lacking in con­
ti~ui t y of contact; a very necessary 
pr~cedure. In future the GAFUKU area 
will be patroll~Q from Bena Bena Post 1 and ( all Gadsup ftrea patrols from Ramu." • 

The records kept at Bena Sena have disappeared. 
Presumably they met a similar fate to that of the copies 
held in the District Offic~ at mada~g. Whether they were 
de~troyed in the heavy Ja~~nese bombing raids of June, 1943, 
o t met a less s p e c t a c u 1 a r c n d t h rough ax p o sur e to rats 
and the weather, is a moQ~ ~oint. 

Two volumes of ~.N.G.A.U. patrol ~eports of the 
Bena Bena - Goroka area; ~hiC~ date from early 1944, are 
held in the National Ar~hive~~ Port moresby • and these give 
a very detailGd account ~f the activities of ~~N.G~A~U. after 
the withdrawal of Australian and American ~ilitary comb a t 
forces from the area. ANGAU's major task during 1944 and 
1945 was the rehabilitation of the native people after 
the disruptive and oft~n traumatic war experientes of 1942 and 
1943. So much then fo~ the surviving official government 
records. Of equal importance are the records of ~rivate 
individuals and the Missi6ns. 

Pre-eminent · ~mong the documentary sources of private 
individuals are those of mr. michael J. Leahy. From his 
first prospecting jo~rney into the Asaro Valley in November, 
1930 until the epoc~-making Wahgi Valley - mt. Hagen Pat~ol 
with mr. Jim Taylor in 1933, mr. Leahy kept very detailed 
records of his work, many of which refer to the Bena Bena 
- Goroka area. His cotlection of diaries and photographs 
are now preserved in tDe National Library, Canberra. 
many of Mr. Leahy's ex~eriences are also recorded in the 
book 'The Land Which fime Forgot', which he wrote in · 

1 • Croft, C.R.: Patrol Report No. m. 37 ( 38, 17th 
November, 1937. 
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collaboration with Maurice Crain. 1 • 

The records of the Lutheran mission are nlso 
qu~t~ extensive and informative. Early mission conforo nc e 
m~nutes relating to Bena Bena and the Asaro Va lle y are 
held at Lutheran Church headquarters in Lae , and various · ~iaries and reports have been pres~rved in the Lutheran ~ Neuendettelsau Mission's Archives at Neuendettels a u in 

,·.'· 
:<· West Germany. 

Interestirig reminiscences of th e Seventh Da y Adventist mission at Sigoiya have been provided by the widow of the pioneer missionary, Mrs. S.H. Gander. Records of Sigoiya may be held by the Seventh Day ~ dventist Church in Australia, but S.D.A. missionaries in G ~r oka are not sure of their existence. Further enquiries will need to be made. 

Published works based on primary source materi a l include Ian Willis's article 'Who Was First? The First 
') White Man into the New Guinea Highl ands,•L• Robin Rnd for d ' s "Missionaries, miners and Administrators in the Eastern Highlands to 1932 113 ·, David Dexter's chapter on the Bona Force in his war history 'The New Guin8a Offensivest 4 •, 

and Jim Sinclair's succinct account of the pre-war period in 'The Highlanders' • 5 • 

Diana Howlett's . unpublished Ph.D. th esis, 'A Decade of Change in the Goroka Vall e y, Ne w Guinea', has a useful chapter on 'Pioneers, Prospec t~ rs and Patrols', although there are some gaps in the na rra tiv e as fa r as 
Bena Bena and Goroka are c oncerned. I am , however, in debted to Dr. Howlett for the guidelines this c:r.apter provid es, 

1 • L e a h y , m • J • an d C r a in , m • : 1 The L an L T h Cl t T lin o F c i ' go t ·-

2. Willis, I.: . 

3. Radford, R.: 

Adventures and DiscovsriE8 in New Guinea'. (Funk & Wagnalls- Company. Now York, 1937. ) 
'Who Wa~ First ? ', Journ f.l of tho Papua Now Gui1 Ja Society, . Vo ~ 3, No . 1, 1969. 
mission a ri es , miners R n~ _ AcJminiqtrFltors in the Eastern Highl a n~~' Journal of t ho P a p u a N c w G u i n e a Soc i o t v , V o 1 . 6 , rJ o . 2 , 1 ~.i ·/ 2 • 4. Dexter, D.: Tho Ne w Guin ea Df f ens iv oJ (Au st r a li r. n War memorial, CanborrrJ, J96 1. ) 

5. Sinclair, J .. P.:Th e Highland or s (Jacnrr.1j a , 1"11 i lt ~ n, Que onsland, 1971.) 
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and it is in no sense of criticism that I attempt to fill 
in the gaps that she was unable to cover. A mor e recont 
research scholar in the Goroka Valley is ant hropologist 
and agricultural economist Dr. Fritz von Fleckenstein. He 
and his wife, Ruth, were most generous with th e ir help and 
made relevant sections of their notes av nil a ble to me • 

The writing of this history would not ha ve been 
possible without the assistance of three outst an ding pioneers 
of the early contact period - namely, mi .• Jim Ta yl o r, mr. 
ffiick Leahy and mr. John Black, all of whom were leading 
participants in the events described. They ha ve boon un­
sp a ring in the time they have set aside for interviews and 
conversations, and in the information and suggestions they 
have offered, both verbally and in correspondence. 

It has also been possible to see the early events 
from a New Guinean point of view, due to the very vivid 
reminiscences provided by retired Sergeant-major Ubom ffiawns a n, 
mr. Bepi ffioha, Pastor Akiro Tanggarao, rotired Se rge a nt 
Enka and Luluais Gopie of Kama, Hanimo of Fa niufa and 
Gelepetamelauho of Seigu. Oth er local lo a dor s who ga ve 
information include ffir. Soso Subi a nd mr. Ai-A o o f As a riuf n , 
mr. Osiso Negi, mr. Papazo Zawo, mr. Aid a moso Sikirih a and 
retired police constables Sare Tate and Pa liu. I a lso 
wish to express my a ppreciation to the Re v . J oh2nn os Fliorl, 
the Rev. Ralph Goldhardt, Mrs. S.H. Gander, Mr. Jim Leahy, 
ffir. Horrie Niall, mr. Ian Downs, ffir. L.G.R. Kyngdon, ffir. Willi a m 
Sippo and mr. Tom Leabeater, all of whom ha ve generously 
supplied personal reminiscences of pre-1950 events in tho 
Goroka area. 

There are oth er s who did not par t ici pnto in t his 
early history but are none the less interested in seeing it 
recorded and have given m·e ·much ·---assi...st-ance .a nd----e ncouragement. -...__ 
F o r em o s t am o n g t h e s e I w i s h to a c k no w 1 e d go t . h e h e l p o f-m-r.: .... 

'-----..........__ __ max Orken, Senior Land Titlos Commissioner nt Gorok n . mr. 
Orken has a wealth of experience in the fi e ld of l a nd tenurG 
in New Guine a , gathered cvor a pe r iod o f more th a n 36 ye 8rs 
of service in this country. mr. Rick Giddi ngs a nd mr. J ohn 
Fowko of the Lands Section, Department of tho Chi e f Ministor, 
Goroka, have also assisted me gre a tly, sp a ring no e ffort 

·-.. 
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in their search for old land purchase files which have been 
important to this study. District Commissioner, mr. Jim 
Sinclair, who kindly supported my application for access 
to the archival material, has also been most generous with 
his information and suggestions, derived from his own very 
extensive researches into the early contact history of the 
Highlands. 

For Lutheran mission records and photographs, in 
addition t9 the help received from tho Rev. Johannes Flierl, 
I must include a note of very warm appreciation to mrs. 
Frieda Helbig, who is in charge of the Lutheran archives 
in Lae. Mrs. Helbig has gone to a great deal of trouble to 
locate photographs in the · possession of members of the 
Helbig and Hofmann families in Australia, and she has also 
translated from the German, early conference minutes dealing 
with Asaroka. 

mrs. S.H. Gander's reminiscences and photographs 
relating to the S.D.A. mission at Sigoiya are nn invaluable 
source of information, and I am most grateful to her for 
them •• mention of photographs prompts a note of appreciation 
to mr. Jim Taylor and Mr. Jim Leahy, in addition to those 
already mentioned, for their very generous loan of photographs 
for copying and for permission to use them in this history. 
Other photographs of Goroka, which I hope to use in lntor 
chapters, have been provided by mrs. Nell Greathead, mr. 
Rob~rt Cleland and Superintendent Bill Burns, and mr. Mick 
Leahy has kindly offered to make available some prints from 
his superb collection. 

For technical assistance and facilities I am most grateful 
to mr. mike Davis and his staff of the Goroka Teachers' 
College Educational materials Centre, mr. John Bone and mr. 
John murray of the Goroka Toachers College manual Arts 
Department, and ffir. Terry Gleeson, Council Clerk, Goroka, 
not forgetting the starling work of my wife who typed and 
duplicated the manuscript. 

A list of those who helped would not be complete 
without the inclusion of Goroka Teachers' College students, 
who shared my enthusiasm for tracking down information about 
Goroka's origins and the 'tnim bipo', and who accompanied 
me on many weekend quests among the villages which surround 
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INTRODUCTION: 

On November 7th, 1930, gold prospectors michael ; \ 
Leahy an~ Michael Dwyer became the first Europeans to enter the Asaro Valley, where they were greeted apprehensively by the local people as ancestors who had returned from the dead. As they explored the gravelly banks an~ beds of numerous fast-flowing tributaries of the river which they called Garfuku, they had no idea that a broad terrace 1 • to which one of these creeks led would, in a few swift decades, become the centre of a thriving Highlands town, with a population rapidly rising to the 10,000 mark. 

'-

·The establishment of a town on this location, is, from an historical point of view, somewhat remarkable. ~ 

Goroka was not one of the original Highlands patrol posts, nor was it a mission station, a trading centre, a road or river junction, nor even, in the days of initial European contact, a staging post on the route to the west. It cannot attribute its foundation to gold discoveries - on the contrary, it probably owes itst existence t o the fact that gold was not found in sig~ificant quantities in the Central Highlands. Had the Leahy brothers been successful in their prospecting a r o u n d t h e 8 en a. B en a a i r s t r i p , s om e ,8 m i 1 e s to t h e e as t of Goroka, and the New Guinea Goldfields Company had begun dredging in the Bena-Asaro area, then in all probability Bena Bena, and not ~oroka, would have become the urban centre serving this part of the Highlands. 

At first sight it does seem curious that Goroka should eclipse at least four other patrol posts with potential for urban growth, which were established up to a decade before Goroka was even considered as an administrative centre. Kainantu was opened by James L. Taylor as the Upper Ramu Patrol Post in ·october, ' 1932, and he followed this initiative by opening the Bena Bena Post beside the Leahy brothers' airstrip early in 1933. Aft e r the murder of prospector Captain Bernard mcGrath at Finintegu, near Henganofi, in February, 1934, John Black established the Finintegu Patrol Post. In March, 1935, A.D.O. Alan Roberts opened the Chimbu 

1. · more accurately described by Dr. Dian~ Howlett as "A dissected alluvial fan against the footh1lls of the Cisrnark mountnins''. SEiu her Ph.D. dissertation 'Decade of Change in the Goroka Valley, New Guinea' (1962 



-3-

(Kundiawa) Post, following the deaths the previous Christmas 
of Catholic missionaries Father Karl morschheuser and Brother 
Eugene Frank. From an administrative point of view, the eastern 
half of the Central Highlands was strategically covered by 

. 1936, with permanent posts at Kainantu, Finintegu, Bena Bena 
and Kundiawa. (Bena Bena was temporarily closed in 1934, 
but Jim Taylor re-opened it in 1936.) 1 • In theory, any one 
of these patrol posts might have developed into a major urban 
centre, but, in fact, Goroka, the late starter, out-ran them 
all. 2 • 

Geographer Diana Howlett has pointed out that New 
Guinea towns "rarely develop out of government static unless 
there is scope for private enterprise.n 3 • The story of Goroka's 
spectacular growth after 1950 is very much bound up with 

,commercial and agricultural development and a r:ajor part 
of a study of its' history must be concerned with this relationshi : 
between government and private enterprise. However, before 
such a study can be attempted it is necessary to examine in 
some detail the events in the two · decades 1930 to 1950, which 
is the key period for the establishment of the town. To 
understand how Goroka emerged from an obscure, ancestral 
ground of open tribal grassland, infrequently visited by 
government or mission patro~s, to become, in 1946, the major 
administrative centre for · the whole of the central highlands, 
some acquaintance with events during this period of intermittent 
contact is required. 

Chapter 14 • of this Section traces the oral an~ 
recorded history of the seven Gahuku-speaking tribes and · 

1. Personal communication with mr. Taylor., 25th June, 1973, 
2. It is true that Kainantu and Kundiawa are still ve ry much in the race, and Kainantu's prospects for growth look particularly promising in view of the Ramu Hydro­Electricity Project and associated developments in the area. 
3. D. Howlett, op. cit., chapter xi. 
4. The chapter submitted for the Master of Arts Qual~. fying Course, University of Papua New Guinea. 
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clans from whom the Goroka town land was purchased in 1948. 
Chapter 2 deals more generally with the story of Europoan 
contact in the Bena Bena - Goroka area, up to the invasion 
of New Guinea by the Japanese in 1942. Chapter 3 covers events 
in the area during the War years, and the re-est a blishment of 
civil administration in the latter part of that decade. 
There is no doubt that developm ents at Goroka during the War 
were largely responsible for its' choice as the administrative 
headquarters of the Central Highlands District in the post-War 
years. However, there are other factors involved, not least 
being the relationships which developed in the early yoars of 
contact between the local people and the representatives of 
the new order. It is these contacts which form the basis for 
the first two chapters. Summing up the outcome of two decades 
of contact in the Highlands, Jim Taylor in 1947 made the claim 
that: 

"One of the first things that strikes 
the visitor to those parts is the friendliness 
of the Native people. That has come 
about, I think, partly by their own 
inherent personalities, and then again 
by our attitude towards them which, right 
from the beginning, has boen one in which 
wo endeavour to treat them as equals as 
far as possible." 

Without such a climate of mutual respect the establishment 
of Goroka may have been difficult to achieve. New Guinea 
villagers do not readily give up 'the ground of the ancestors ' 
to strangers, not,. that is, Unless the strangers are able to 
win something of the respect that was accorded the ancestors • 
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CHAPTER 1 

"THE AIY18IENT NATIVES" 

The temptation to assume, however tacitly, that all 
New Guinea history began with the advent of the white man, 
is particularly hard to resist when researching the history 
of a town. Urbanisation is an aspect of New Guinea's history 

. very closely bound up with European settlement. When most 
other vestiges of Australian colonialism have been swept away, 
the towns will remain, a living memorial to the enterprise, 
or the folly (depending on one's view-point) of the Australian 
way of life. It was possible for Canon Ian Stuart to write 
a most comprehensive history of Port moresby without making 
more than a passing reference to the original land-owners, 
the IY1otuan and Koitabu villagers. The residents of Goroka 
have possibly been forced to pay more attention to their village 
neighbours, if only because the town is a much smaller urban 
'island' in a fairly densely-populoted rurnl 'sea' and Gahuku 
'haus .lines', particularlY those belonging to the Asariufa, 
Komiufa and Kama groups, are but a stone's throw from 
urban streets and dwellings. Also, many expatriates in Goroka 
have read Kenneth Read's 1 • lyricaL account of the Nagamidzuha 
people of Susuroka village, which is an easy walk from the 
town's western boundary. However, only a handful of town 
dwellers speak the local language, which Read called 'Gahuku-Gama'. 

In 'The High Valley', Read writes of 'twelve named 
tribes' which made up the 4000 people living in the central 
portion of the Asaro Valley, twelve tribes who spoke the same 
language and observed the same customs. The seven groups from 
whom urban Goroka was purchased in 1948 belonged to this 

1 • Read, K.E. The High Valley (George Allen and Unwin, London, 1965) 

J , 
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ambient population of Gahuku-Gama speaking people. 

In the original purchase document 1 • these groups 
are described as 'villages' and there are ten named 'v onrlo r s ' 
who are 'natives of the said villages'. But the ownership 
of Goroka was not as simple as the document implios. The 
ten 'vendors' were governmont-cho~en luluais who represent e d 
the seven 'villages'. moreover, these 'villages' were more 
than simple 'house-line' communities. Some cculd be classified 
as tribes, others clans or sub-clans. Re~d 2 • dofines a tribe 
as a group "whose members had a rather vague belief in a 
common origi:n and recognised rights within delimited territories". 
He adds that "these tribes had no central organization, no 
hierarchy of chiefs or other officials, nor anything easily 
recognised as a system of government. Each contained a number 
of smaller named units, clans and sub-clans in which membership 
was reckoned through descent in the male line of an individual's ancestryn. 

In an earlier paper published in 1954, 3 • Read is 
somewhat more specific in his classification of the Gahuku­
speaking groups. He concedes that they had much in common 
with the peoples who surrounded them, in language, culture and organized social life: 

"The whole of the Goroka Valley may be regarded as a single culture area which includes not only the Gahuku-Gama but also the Juha-Jufa, Goha'na, Kabijuhn, the Asaro and the nearer Bena-Bona peoples as well as several smaller groups." (p.35) 

1. Goroka 'Transfer of Land' Document UAL 5 (~JS) d21 t od ~9 OctolH~ r 1948, and registered on 20 Jan 1949. · District Office Filus, Gka . 
2. The High Valley, p.33. 
3. Read, K.E.: Cu~ tures of t~e Centr8l Highlands, ,:·Gw Gu1noa, pp34-J7. Reprint from 1 Southwes~ Jou::nal of Anthro~olog~, Vol. 10, No. 1, Spr1ng, 1954. (Un1vers1ty of Now moxicn Press, Albuquerque.) 
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However, it is in the differences with these other 
groups that the Gahuku-Gama tribes recognise their common 
identity. Read explains that "The nature of this unity 
is not emboidied in any territorial identity, nor in any 
political unity; but it emerges only through the inter­
penetrating spheres of language, culture and organized 
social life". (pp 34-5) In this article he distinguishes 
between tribes and sub-tribes, but while naming the 
latter he is less specific about the former, Thus it is 
not always easy to define the status of the original land-owning 
groups in Goroka. 

Among the sub-tribes Read identifies the Gahuku, 
the Nagamidzuha, the Asarodzuha, the Gama (Kama), the 
Uheto (Ufeto), the Notohana (Notofana) and the Seu've 
(Seigu). He suggests that where two sub-tribes, such as 
Gama and Nagamidzuha "acknowledge an inclusive identity, 
ond both are opposed to the sub-tribes Uheto, Gahuku and 
Notdhuna 11 (p38), then the allied sub-tribes form a tribe. 
As is pointed out later in the article 

h: .. 
"The tribe is the largest group within 
which warfare 1 • is forbidden. Its' 
members speak of themselves as "one kind" 
or "one people" (ha'makokevenone), 
and they recognise a common name which 
is usually a compound formed from the 
names of two principal sub-tribes." (p39) 

Within the sub-tribes there are clans and sub-clans. 
Thus the Kama sub-tribe has four clans and the Nagamidzuha 
has two. The four Kama .clans are Zagomazuha, Gepahina, 
Gomeguveh and Gehamozuha. 2 • The two Nagamidzuha clans are 

1. It is important to distinguish here between 'rova', that is, warfare proper, and 'hina', which is small··scale internal feuding, is temporary in duration and is usually settled amicably by the disputing parties. 
2. Information from anthropologist Dr. Fritz von Fleckenstein, currently working in the Goroka area. 
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Ozahadzuha and menihavove. 1 • 

However, by the time Read came to write 'The High 

Valley' in 1965, he appears to have revised his terminology. 

The groups which in 1954 he called sub-tribes are now tribes, 

and the two-tribe alliance units are not given any particular 

name. This apparent lack of precision in terminology is 

conceded by another anth~opologist, Dr. Lewis Lan~nass. 

Writing about the Bena Bena Korofeigu community, who live 

some 18 miles south-east of Goroka, he says: 

"Korofeigu, the "unit I originally called 
a tribe, is apparently similar to ·what 
Berndt has called a district (1962), 
Newman a phratry (1965), Read a sub-tribe 
(1952), Watson a local group (196~), 
and Glasse a clan-parish (1969)." • 

Probably 'mick' Read found it difficult to maintain 

his origi~al concept of tribe on the basis of the alliances 

which existed between groups, because it was possible for 

former enemies to become good friends, as was the case when 

the Nagamidzuha were invited back to their lands by the 

Gehamo, who had previously driven them away. 3 • Diana Howlett 

escapes this difficulty by describing the two-tribe 
' alliance as a confederacy, and divides trib~s into clans, 

sub-clans and patrilineages. Clan members usually reside 

together in one village and number from 100 to 300 people. 4 • 

Concerning the question . of status of the original 

Goroka land-owners, it is unlikely that any of the groups 

mentioned in the Purchase Document were tribes in Read's 

1 • Read, K.E.: The High Valley, p.35 

2. LangnBss, L.: Bena Bena Political Organization in 
Berndt, R.m. & Lawrence, P.: 11 Politics in New Gu1nea" 
(University of Western Australia Press, 1971) p.299 

3. Read, p.36. 

4. D.m. Howlett, Unpublished Ph.D. thesis pp.45 & 49 
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...______/ wider sense of a confederacy'. But some of the seven groups 
could quite properly be c a lled tribes in his revised (1965) 
terminology. The four most easily recognised are the 
Okiufa (Ukudzuha), the Asariufa (As a rodzuha), the Kama (Gama) 
and the Seigu ( Seu' ve). The complete list of 11 villages" 
mentioned in the document is as follows:-

Ok e yufa 
Asarayufa 
Komiyufa 
Karma 

I faniyufa 
Segu 

Karmiveh 

The status of Komiufa, Faniufa and Karmiveh is less clear, 
as Read does not name them specifically. Howev e r, Komiufa 
originally had close ties with th e Kav e ve peo ple, whom Read 
identifies as a tribe (Gaveve). Faniufa (Ifaniyuf a ) and Kami 
(Karmiveh) are linked closely with Seigu., a nd all three groups share a tommon ancestor. For conv e ni ence Re·a d probably 
grouped them together under the common tribal name Seu've. 
In Gahuku 'v~' or 'veh' means 'people 1 ~ 1 • 

All seven groups ga ve up land to the Administration 
for the town of Goroka. In the 1948 transfer they surrendered 
an area of 254 hectares, for which they received a c a sh 

2 amount of £1,270, "equal to £5 per hectare." • It is important 
to know something of the history of th ese seven 'vendors' 
as a basis for the study of thB origins of the town. 

OKIUFA: In his 1954 article Read mentions the Ukudzuha group 

1. K.E. Read: Cultures of the Central Highl ands, New Guinea se~ pp 34 - 43, especially maps on pp. 37 and 41 
2. Transfer document U.A.L. 5 (N.S), Registered 26th January, 1949 - Goroka District Office Land Files. It was discovered in 1951 th a t th e distanc e a long some boundaries had been ov e r-estim a te d , an d t he tot a l a roa was less than 254 hoct a res. lU is e ly, t he Administr a tion made no attempt to rec ove r th e Rmount of mon e y over-paid. 



Aidameso Sekiriha of the Okiufa hamlet of Aketauka, Coroka, 
September 1973 . Aidameso and his cousin Papazo Zawo witnessed 
the arrival of the first Europeans in the early 1930s . 

Papazo /a wo of Aketauka hamlet, Okiufa, September 1973. 

Luluai Celepatamelauho of Seigu, centre, with other old 
Seigu men, photographed September 1973. 

( Pho to s by the awthor) 
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and places them on his sketch map 1 • in about· the position 
where Okiufa haus-lines are now situated. The suffixes 
'zuha' or 'yufa' are the same, and moan 'group'. At the time 
of initial European contact there was an Okiufa haus-line 
along the north side of Humilaveka terrace, on which Goroka 
Teachers' College is now situated. Two old Okiufa men inter­
viewed at Aketauka hamlet have only vague knowledge of their 
origins, but claim that Humilaveka was the site of the first 
Okiufa settlement, "the ground of the ancestors," 2 ' 
Asariufa informants, who live on the north-western boundary of 
the town and have close kinship ties with Okiufa, say that 
their common ancestors lived in the B~smarck ranges to the 

·J 3 north of Okiufa, below mount Otto. ' 

The two Aketauka informants claim that their first 
contact with a European occurred before Mr. Jim Taylor's 
arrival in 1933. 4 • He was a gold prospector and he c a me from 
the direction of Bena Bena with a line of native 'police' (probably 
carriers or labourers). The people thought thoy were the 
spirits of their ancestors and were frightened, The Seigu 
people called to Okiufa from IYlr. Sitani (Cardnazova Spur): "Here 
come the spirits. Be prep0red to welcome thorn," The white 
man had a dish and he used it to look for gold in the creoks. 
He also had a gun, but he did not demonstrate its use. The 
first night he and his men slept rlown near the Zokozoi River, 
close to the present site of the mat-mat (cemetery). The 
next day they moved on up the Asaro to Wanima and Kabiufa, 
Papnzo and Aidameso, the two Aketauka informants, claim to 
have witnessed these events. 

It would be convenient tq be able to identify 

1. Figure 4, p37 . 

2. Interview at Aketauka on 31st August, 1973, with Papazo Zawo and Aidameso Sekiriha, whom I est.~ _m_a·.t .e __ t.o_b..::L..ab.ou.t . 65 years old (ses photo i' . 

See notes on Asariufa, below. 

Events in the Goroka area are usually describ e d as 'bipo Jim Taylor' or 'bihain Jim Ta ylor'. He first set foot in the Asaro Valley at the beginning of 1933. 

5 
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these early visitors with the prospecting journey of mick 
Leahy and mick Dwyer in November, 1930. But Papazo and 
Aidameso are most · insistent that there was only one white man. 
They did not learn his name, which would suggest that he never 
returned. Any one of half a dozen gold prospectors working 
in the Kainantu, Finintegu and Bena Bena areas between 1930 
and 1934 could have made an unpublicised prospecting , trip 
to the Asaro during that time. As uncontrolled area permits 
were issued for specified regions, a prospector would be 
unlikely to report a visit to an area not covered by his permit. s When A.P.O. John Black inspected the camp of prospector W. Swindell near Finintegu on October 24th, 1934, he reported to his 
superiors that "everything very satisfactory, except that his 
uncontrolled area permit is endorsed 'Upper Ramu' and not 
'Purari'. 111 • 

by 

to 

Alternatively, it could have . been someone employed the New Guinea Goldfields Company, which received permission 
stake out leases in both the Bena Bena and Asaro Valleys 

in late 1932. Two surveyors, C.W~ marshall and K.L. Spinks, 
carried out this work, assisted by ffiick Leahy. 2 • It is also 
possible that when the Okiufa informants speak of the time 
before Tayler thQy are not referring to his 1933 Patrols through 
the Asaro, but rather to his presence at Bena Bena in 1936, 
when he re-opened the post there. He would have become much 
better known to the Asaro Vnlley peoples in 1936 than he was 
in 1933. Conceding this as a possibility the m8st likely 
candidate would be prospector E.m. Peacock, who was working 
in the Bena Bena area in 1934. John Black visited him at his mining camp on September 13th, 1934, and Peacock told him "he 
would shortly be evacuating his present claim and moving his 
camp to the Dunantina River. 113 ' It is more than likely that 
he took the opportunity to examine the Asaro River and its 

1 • J.R. Black: Progress and Patrol Report of Activities in the Purari area (B.16/34-35, Finintegu, 7 December, 1934.) 

2. Land That Time Forgot p.14~ 

3. John Black: Patrol Report B.16/34-35 
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tributaries while he was prospecting in the Bena Bena. 

The Okiufa people avoided r egular contact with 
Europeans after this first encounter, as their land did not 
lie in the direct path of expeditions going to and from the 
west. Whereas the Kama people are mentioned by both Jim 
Taylor a nd John Black in 1933 and 1934 respectiv ely , 1 • there 
is no official surviving record of Okiufa until 1937. They 
did receivo, howev er, a visit from Lutheran missionaries in 
January, 1935 • . missionaries Johannes Flierl and Georg Hofmann 
patrolled through the Asaro Valley in search of sites for 
mission stations and they settled a Finschhafen evangelist 
Buko at the nearby Okesana village of Na min amiroka, which 
is in th e Bismarks up · behind Okiufa. 2 • The people allowed 
the mission party to make a cRmp close to their burial ground, 
which was on land across thG mumoka Creek, opposite Humilaveka. 
They reasoned that if these people wete spirits of the dead 
they would be at home among their own kind in the cemetery. 
When Buko settled down among the Okesana he moved through all 
the surrounding vill ages telling stories. He was not afraid of 
the people, in spite of several threats to kill him. 

Papazo and Aidameso recalled this visit and the 
presence of Buko at Naminamiroka, but the information concerning 
the camp site and Buko's work was supplied by rotired 
Okiufa policeman Sare Tate. In 1935, Sare was a small child 
of about 7 or 8 years {old. He is quite definite that there were 
two European missiona.~ies with Buko, and that one of thorn was 
the Rev. Hofmann. Georg Hofmann would be remembered as he 
settled permanently at Asaroka in 1937. 

The return of Jim Taylor to Gena Bena in 1936 was 
an occasion of considerable importance to the Okiufa people, 
not so much bec a us e of his own presence as that of his sturdy 
and pugnacious IY18robe police sergeant Ubom IYlawasan (or mawsang). 

1 • J.L. Taylor: 
J.R. Black: 

Report of the mt. Hagen Patrol, 1933 
Patrol Report 8.16/34-35, 1934 

2. Personal communic a tion with the Rev. Joh a nn e s Flierl, now retired at Neuendettelsau, West Germany. 
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Lutheran Missionary Ralph Goldhardt 1 • claims that even today 
the name Ubom strikes fear in the hearts of Asaro Valley 
people. During his time of service in the area Ubom married 
an Okiufa woman called Yagire, and had a daughter by her. 2

" 
He stayed with this daughter (now grown up and married) 
when he visited Goroka in 1972. Okiufa informant Sare Tate, 
recalling his childhood experiences, says: 

"We were all scared of Ubom and at first we used to run for our lives. Then we gave him our daughter Yagire and we called him our 1 Tambu', hoping that he would not punish us when we started fighting. But he was still the big P policeman and he still 'kalabused 1 us when we broke the law." 

Asariufa people interviewed 3 • said that Ubom was a strong, 
fearless man who sternly suppressed tribal fighting and did 
not hesitate to use his rifle if his word was not obeyed. 
Ubom himself claims to have stopped warfare throughout the 
central portion of the valley in 1936. Jim Taylor first 
sent him to establish a Police Post at Ufeto on tHe As a r o 
River. He next moved across to the vicinity of Hovei (Hobe) 
Plantation about 5 miles north of Goroka a nd stopped the 
fighting there. He ·then settled in the Okiufa are<:? "and 
put a h o us e n e a r w h ere t h e 0 k i u f a S c h o o l n ow s tan d s • " 4. • 

By 1937 regular patrols by Europe ~n government 
officers were being made through the Goroka area. Patrol 
Officer Tommy Aitchison passed through in July, 1937, and 
made an entry in his Patr'Jl Di a ry for July ·21st: "Village of 
OKUYUFA visited." 5 • He was accompa~ied on this Patrol by 

1. Personal communication with Ralph Goldhardt at Kainantu, October, 1972. 

2. Finding of Senior Land Titles Commissioner Mr. m.B. Orken in the Gomiufa, Dkiufa and Koveve Land Dispute, September, 1961. (Land Titles Commission Files, Goroka) 
3. See section on Asariufa 

4. Evidenc8 of Sgt. 2/C Ubom mawasan - Land Dispute Hearing 1961, op. cit. 

5. T.G. Aitchison: Patrol Report No. m. 37/38, July - ~ugust, 1937. 
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eleven native policemen, including L/C . Enk ~, who today liv es 
in retirement at Aketauka, having married an Okiufa woman. 
Enka retired with the rank of Sergeant, after a long care e r 
with the Police Force commencing in 1936. 

In Aitchison's report of this patrol he mentions 
that on July 19th a "rough census taken of OKUFA village. Ra in set in at noon and natives returned to th e ir villages." 1 " 
It is surprising that Aitchison, a University graduate, should be so careless with his spelling, but this is a fault which 
he shared with most of his colleagues. It is, of course, 
possible that OKUYUFA and OKUFA are two different villages.* 
However, tinka recalls th a t a "rough census" of Okiufa was 
in fact made, the people lining up on the ground beside Ubom's 
police post. The police round ed up the people from the 
various hamlets as best they could and names were recorded. 
Enka's recollections of this Patrol are still quite vivid: 

"masta Aitchison brought us to Bena Bena. The houses were there and that is where we stopped. Then we came up here. We exchanged salt for food with the people. We stopped their fighting and settled them down. Sometim e s we broke their spears and burnt their houses. Then we counted the people by putting them in line and wrote their names in the book. When we finished one place we went on to another. There was a 'haus kiap' at Gahuku (near Hobe Plantation) and we stayed there. Then we came to Okiufa. · I can't remember if Ubom's police post was here then. I think Ubom was at Ufeto with a manus policeman.· Anyway, we lined the people up nea r where the OkiufR school is now. Some of them tried to run away into the bush. During this time I saw my wife and made friends with he r. 11 2 • 

Enka thinks that it was during this patrol that luluais and 
tultuls were chosen and luluais badges, which wer e painted 
red, and worn around the neck, were given out. This claim 

1 • T.G. Aitchison: Patrol Report No. m. 37/38, July -August, 1937 

2. Interview with retired Serge a nt Enka at ~ket a uka on 5th September, 1973. 
* It could also be a ty pi s t's e rr or. Th e doc um ent Gt Gorok:1 is a copy of the origin nl Rep ort • 

.,.~,.~ ........ ~ .... - ~~~--. -.- ---
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needs to be accepted with some reserv~tion_, as there is no mention of luluais and tultuls in Aitchison's report. Shortly after this Patrol, Enka was stationed permanently at Bena 

\ 

Bena and he made many patrols into the Asaro with Patrol Officers N.C. (Pompey) Elliott, 1 • 'Sam' fficWilliam, Harry Hamilton, A.J. Robertson and L.G.R. Kyngdon, between 1937 and 1941. luluai badges would certainly have been given out during this time. 

On 1st October, 1937, Patrol Officer C.R. Croft assembled "natives of the surrounding villa.ges 11 at the GAFUKU rest house (about 3 miles north of Okiufa) and "OKUAIUFA" WC3S among the groups present. Croft reported tha't "various matters were adjusted and discussions were held 11 • 2 • 

By the end of 1941 the Okiufa people on Humilaveka had resettled to the east at Yamahoto. 3 • This was because they .had agreed, under Sergeant Ubom's persuasive influence, to relinquish Humilaveka so that an airstrip could be cleared on the terrace. Ubom recalls that: 

'' I f o u n d t h e 0 k i u f a p eo p le l i vi n g up a t Humilaveka and I said to them, •maybe if you people shifted aside I can make an airstrip here.' So later on the Okiufa people moved to one aide near the Zokozoi River. They tried to oppose me but I calmed them down and said, 'Bena is not a good place where settlement can grow and in the future Europeans will settle here. 1114 • 

The history of Goroka during the war years 1942 - 1945 will be dealt with in some detail in a later chapter. Sufficient to note here that the Okiufa people, like all the Gahuku-Gama tribes, were profoundly affected by the War. most of tho 

1. See Kainantu File, N.C. Elliott, Patrol Report m 37/38, September, 1937. 

3. 

C.R. Croft: Patrol Report No. m 37/38, 17th November, 1937 

See map of north Goroka, showing position of Dkiufa hamlets and the approximate extent of Dkiufa's 'town' land. 
Retired Sergeant-major Ubom mawasan (mawsang) in a t a lk to Goroka Teachers College students, October 18th, 1972. 

1· 
J .' 
I. 



'Airpos' from Humilaveka, with mumoka Creek below. Sgt.Ubom 
established the Okiufa Police Post on the ridge to the left in 
c. 1936. The twin-peaked hill · 
in the background is close 
to the site where mick Leahy 
and mick Dwyer made their 
final camp during their Asa ro 
prospecting trip in 1930. 

U b o m IYl a w a s an 

Retired Sergeant-major Ubom mawasan 
with Coroka Teach ers ' College stud­
ents during hi s visit to the College, 

October, 1972. 

Ret ired Sergeant Enka, a markham 
policeman who first visited Coroka 
in 1937 with P. O. T.G. Aitchison. 
He married an Ok iuf a wom a n and now 
live s at Aket a uk a hamlet. 

(Photos by the autho r ) 
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able'bodied men were recruited into labour lines, either as 
carriers or as labourers. Some worked in the vicinity of 
Goroka's two airfields, 1 • others constructed jeep roads between 
Kainantu and Goroka. 2 • According to mr. Horrie Niall some 
2000 labourers were recruited from Chimbu to work in the 
Goroka area, providing yet another element in the disruption 
of local village life. The Chimbu labourers were paid in gold 
1ip pearl shell whereas the Gorokans received large cowrie 
shells. When the bombs began to fall during the heavy Japanese 
air-raids of Juna, 1943, the Okiufa hamlets were in the thick 
of the action. The airstrip on Humilaveka was a prime 
target and interpreter mr. B~pi ffioha recalls that an incendiary 
bomb aimed at the kunai huts which lined the airstrip fell on .J 

the slopes of mt. Arepega opposite, setting the whole hillside 
ablaze. 3 • This is all Okiufa land. The two Aketauka 
informants remember vividly the terror which these raids 
caused among the village people, and those who could, ran 
away into the bush. However, Papazo and Aidameso were employed 
in a labour line and feared the Australian soldiers would 
shoot them if they tried to escape. Discipline was very strict 
and the Okiufa people remember this year in particular as a 
time of extreme hardship. To add to their misery an epidemic 
of Japanese dysentry called Shiga swept through the valley, 
claiming victims in most villages until A.N.G.A.U. was able 
to get it under control with drugs and the enforcement of 
rigorous hygiene measures. 4 • 

When the Japanese were cleared but of the Ramu 
Valley and the madang area in 1944, the pressure on the Goroka 
villagers was relaxed and A.N.G.A.U. officers were able to . 
~oncentrate on improving the welfare of the people. An Airforce 
Rest Camp was established on Okiufa land north of Humilaveka, 

1. The Americans began constructing the fighter and medium bomber 

i.· 
.~. 

.. ·.· 
I ~ • 

I •'• •. • 

strip which serves today as Goroka's air strip, in ~ u n ~ , t 1943. The smaller airstTip on .Humilaveka was cleared in 1941. 
2. Personal communication from mr. Horrie Niall, 19th July, 1973. Horrie Niall took over from John Black as Officer­in-Charge, A.N.G.A.U. at Bena Bena in may, 1943. 

3. Interview with mr. Bepi moha at Goroka on 14th June, 1973. 
4. Personal infotmation from John Bl ack, when he re-visited Goroka in may, 1972. 
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between mount Arepega and the Highlands Highway. People from 
Sepiyaro, one of the old-established Qkiufa hamlets moved up 
close to the camp. This settlement became known as Joypaloka and 
today it is the largest of the Okiufa settlements. 1 • 

The Rest Camp is still known locally as 'Airpos'. 
When civil administration was restored after June, 1946, it 
was hoped by the government officials that 'Airpos' could be 
purchased for town use. Later, in 1949, it was proposed 
that 20 hectares of land there be set aside for a station farm. 
The Veterinary Officer m.L. Dodson actually 'squatted' on 
this land pending the outcome of negotiations with the Okiufa 
owners. 2 • ~ ut mr. Jim Taylor, who in 1946 became the first 
District Officer, Central Highlands District, had already 
encountered strong resistance from Okiufa to the sale of more 
land. In June, 1948, he wrote to Headquarters as follows:-

"Unfortunately, the old Air Force Rest Camp is not included for the native owners baulked at selling that and 
although I should like to see it as a 
part of the Administration's establishment at Goroka one cannot but sympathise with the elders, who say, 'What of our children? We have parted with so much land!' 

"This last is perfectly true. Expansion of Administration activity has exerted a steady pressure on the OKEYUFA group particularly the members of which who wer-e -the ··or:i:gina-1- · irrhabitants of the site where the District Office and the Goroka north airfield are situated. 

" I t r em a i n s t D b e s e en w h e t h e r i n t . h e co u r s e of time the OKEYUFA people will require the land of the Air Force Rest Camp, but at pr~sent ono would feel a cad to ~ry and persuade thom to psrt with it." • 

In the 1948 land transfer to which Jim Taylor~s 
letter refers, Okiufa claimed and received payment for 79 

1. Information from Dr. Fritz von Fleckenstein, who interviewed Joypaloks people in July, 1973. 

2. Correspondence in Kama Land Purchase File, 34/2-3/3. Acting District Officer, Goroka, to Director, Distri8t Services and Native Affairs, 5th may, 1949. 

3. J.L. Taylor: Attachment A: Lnnd Required by Administration in Benn Sub-District, 19th Juno, 1948. Filo 3t~-4-1, District Office, Coroka. 
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hectares out of the total town purchase of 254 hectares. This 
Okiufa domain took in most of Humil a veka, plus much of the 
north Goroka Zokozoi Valley area, known as Gururunoka by the 
local people. The Gururunoka bo undary with Asariufa extended 
from Goroka Technical School down through 'China Town' in 
Kyle Street close to where tho Goroka Picture Theatre is 
situated, then across the Zokozoi River to the old Labour 
Compound (now Greathead Drive housing estat e ). The southern 
boundary with traditional enemy; Komiufa, was Olohamika Cree~, 
a · tributary of the Zokozoi River. 1 • 

The money for this land was paid to Aitovei, 2 • the 
Okiufa luluai, who distributed it as best he could among his 
fellow trrbesmen. Papazo And Aid ame so claim that Aitovei 
was paid £400, which was not s Uffici ent for every OkiUfa man, 
woman and child to receive £1 e ~ ch, and consequently, some 
went without. However informants of other tribes say that 
in sue~ cases the mon~y was shared out in smaller amounts. 3

• 
mr. William Sippo, thk Patrol Officer who paid the luluais, 
confirms that coins wer~ used as well as one pound and ten 
shilling notes. He recalls that the mon e y was rec~ived'from 
the Commonwealth Bank in Port moresby unwrapped, and the irksome 
job of putting the shillings into rolls ha~ to be done by the 

-oistrict Office staff. 4 • Some informants recall that there 
was initial resistance to receiving payment in cash, but in 
Jim Taylor's memorandum of 19th June, 1948, he in dicates that 
there was an increasing demand for it:-

"It appears that all payments will have 

1. Information on the tribal boundaries was supplied by mr. Bepi moha, the government interpreter who was present at the 1948 land sale; mr. Soso Subi of Asariufa and mr. Papazo Zawo of Okiufa. 

2. Aitovei is now dead and no clear leadership ha s emerged, although one big man at Joypaloka, Aino, can be regarded as an important man in the tribe. 

3. See section on Kama. 

4. Interview with mr. William Sippo at Port moresby on 14th August, 1973. 
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to b~ made in cash - there is an increasing demand for cash over a .large part of the District. In many cases it should be possible to arrange for the owners to bank -the money. 

"To expedite payment, UJould it be possible for the sums to be despatched in notes from Port moresby, per air mail, immediately authority to purchase is given?" 

The Okiufa informants may well be correct about the method of distribution of the money received by their luluai. 1 • 
Their memory of the total amount is remarkably close to the 
figure on the purchase document (£395). Their information on 
the way that the boundaries were fixed is less accurate. J 

• . They say that they dld not walk over tho land with any government officials. They recall mr. Taylor sitting in his office 
asking the luluais if ho could purchase tho ground. However, both mr. William Sippo and government interpreter mr. Bepi 
ffioha, state that the town's external boundaries and also the 
internal boundaries between the seven groups, were cle9rly 
marked • . As mr. Sippo recalls the occasion:-

"We drew up the boundaries by agreement on the spot. The leadin~ men set off through the kunai, with a great crowd of villagers and Bepi and myself following. They used bush-kn ves to cut a boundary, chopping everything in the way and trampling it down flat. If the front leaders went astray the whole mob shouted and yelled to get them back in line. There were no gardens to mention. It was all pretty much unused, open land, and there was a fair amount of . overlapping of boundaries. However they were settled by the luluais -I did not interfere. I drew a sketch map on the spot - taking compass bearings and measuring in metres • . We marked the corners with a post driven in the ground or a pile of rocks. Trees were blazed if conveniently placed, so that the markers could easily be found later. 
"As well as the external boundary mRp which was attached to the Transfer Document I also drew a map showing the internal boundaries between the tribes. It should 

1. However Mr. Bepi ffioha, · who, although from Yabiufa, is related to Okiufa, claims that everyone got money, including himself. 
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still be at the District Office, Goroka. 1 • I worked out the area belonging to e8ch group in hectares, by carving the map up into squares and triangles. It seemed quite easy at the time, even though none of us were trained in surveying or map making. A qualified surveyor did not come to Goroka until several years later. I think that the approach which we ad opted ·to land purchasing, with all the villagers marching around with us and deciding where the boundaries should go, was the best. Later land purchases in other places ran into trouble because there was ~o attempt to involve the local people." • 

The fact that over the years Goroka has been relatively free of disputes and resentments concerning the purchase of 
the urba~ land is testimony enough to the wise handling of 
that original 1948 Transfer. The most serious complaint often voiced by village leaders today is that th~y did not receive 
enough money for the land they sold. 3 • Appreciation of land values is not readily understood by village people. However 
there is some evidence that even in 1948 the price paid was a little low. Jim Taylor, in his 19th June memor8ndum, commented 
that:-

"The price recommended to be paid is £5.0.0 (five pounds) per hectare as it is almost all high quality . farming land and supports what is for New Guinea a heavy population • . On an open market it could bring from £10.0.0 (ten pounds) to £50.0.0 (fifty pounds) per hectare." 

During the interview with the two Aketauka informants, ' I 

I 
another minor complaint was raised. They were under the impression 1 that Okiufa received payment only for Humilaveka and that · Gururunoka was never paid for. But they conceded that the whole area now belongs to the Government as it is covered with houses, schools, shops and factories. This point is of some importance 

I, 

as it highlights a basic Gahuku assump~ion th a t possession 
is more than nine-tenths of th8 law. Once land has been occupied 

1. So far my efforts to locqte this map have been unsuccessful. 
2. From my notes of interview with W.C. Sippo on 14th August, 1973. 

3. See Gopie's statement in the s~ction on Ka ma. 

I 

I. 
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and used over a period of time by a tribe or clan, there is ra~ely any dispute over its ownership. 1 • Thus wh~n the military authorities constructed airfields and other installation on native lands the local people do not appear to have resisted. When they observed that obvious and permanent use was made of it they were prepared to concede it to the Europeans. Also in most cases it was not land that had been put to intensive use in pre-war times. However, as has already be~n noted, the ground known as 'Airpos' was a different matter. When the Okiufa people established Joypaloka hamlet abongside the Rest Camp they came to appreciate the value of the land there and as Jim Taylor discovered, they resisted all attempts to persuade them to sell. 

The role of one, Aino, today a 'big man' in the Okiufa community, . is interesting. In a recent interview he claimed to have opposed the s~le of Humilaveka and to have chased the soldiers away from 'Airpos 1 •
2 ' He recalls that he told the elders not to sell the Humilaveka ground as all thoir ancestors were there. He objected strongly when the transfer was made. As a young man of about 25 his voice would prqbably _ have not carried much weight, and his complaint may be more an indication of his present feelings than a recollection of youthful concern for the ancestors. However, his counsel does seem to have prevailed as far as the 'Airpos' land is concerned. Aino's anti-European attitude would have been typical of many young men at the time. As mentioned previou~ly they were subjected, in 1943, to what would be regarded . today as harsh treatment, serving as carriers as far afield as Kainantu, mt. Hagen and the American base of Faita in the Ramu Valley, and as labourers around the airfields. Bepi moha recalls treatment received by himself and· others at Bena during the time of the Japanese air-raids, when they tried to run away:-

1. See Land Titles Commission files on Comiufa, Okiufa and Kaveve Land Dispute (1961), and the Trans-Zokozoi Land Dispute (1969), Land Titles Commission Office, Coroka. 
2. Interview conducted ot Joypaloka by Or. Fritz ·von Fleckenstein in July, 1973. 
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"If we didn't obey him the white 'mns t a 1 

kicked us •••• He wns young, just a 'mRn ki tasol'. Things were very ba d at th a t time completel¥ different from t he days before the War." • 

The resentment which resulted from such treat ment 
lingered on after the War among ·this age group, but bec a use 
they were still young their hostili t y would generally have 
been suppressed by the older men. The fact t hat 'Airpos' 
was not acquired by the Administration would be due both 
to Aino's eloquence beyond his years and to Jim Taylor's 
many years of experience in dealing with New Guinea villagers, 
expressed as always with tact, patience and a sense of fair play. 

KOmiUFA (GOmiUFA) 

moving south along the Goro ka to wn boundary from 
Humilaveka in a clockwise direction, t he next l Rnd-owning group 
was Komiufa. How the Komiufa lul uai Zokizopa come to have 
his claims for payment accepte d is not i mmediately obvious. 
Land on the east side of Gorok a , fr om the old La bo ur Compound 
(Greathead Drive) over the Gardnazova Spur (m t . Sitani) t o 
the present District Office on Elizabeth Street WRS claimed 
to belong to Komiufa. However, at a Land Titl e s Co~mission 
hearing into a land dispute between th e Okiufa, Komiufa 2nd 
Kaveve peoples, held at GorJka, 6th- 20th September, 1961, no 
evidence was . forthcoming to support the Komiufa's recent 
ownership over all of this urban land. The dispute concerned 
an area outside the town boundary, but had t hB Komiuf a s been 
able to establish their recent occu ra nc y of th e t o~ n land, 
their claim to the disputed land mi ght ha\I!:J hno r1 R 1. l "c;J I I1J Lit l-> lt !":l rl. 

In his findings on this dispute, Se ni o r La nd Ti~ l es 
Commissioner mr. max Orken recur cb LlloC " CI S P Q L C ! ) o f Lll8 La nd 
Files at Goroka revealed that duiing the or igina l 8cquis i ti on 
of land for Goroka townsh ~ p, som e Gomiufa people received 
payment, but the documents do no t disclose which particul a r 

1. Bepi moha in talk to Coroka Teachers Coll e ge student s, monday, 16th July, 1973. 



r-- -23-

areas of land were paid for. it 
1 • 

An old Okiufa witness, V nmopo -Ih 0tcme~~ho, to!d 
the Commissioner that at the tim e of Mr. Jim Tayl o r 1 s a rrival 
(1933), Okiufa occ upied all th~ Labour Com po und nrea ri ght dow n t a 
the old 'Haus Sik 1 , and that the Komiufa obout t his t irdG hnd 
been defeated in battle and had fled to a vill age c a ll ed Camega . 
Later (date not specified) they · returne d to t hs G2 r dnoza v8 Ridge 
behind Goroka. The Komiufa witness Pukau - Ur opo a gre ed 
that his people had fled to Gamega in about 1933. 

The 1937 Patrol Reports in the Kain an tu Filo me nti o n 
Komiufa only once. Pa trol Officer T.G. Aitchi s on, in the 
report pre iously quoted in the section on Okiufa, records his 
journey on 18th July, 1937, from Bena Bena airstrip 11 to MUWETO 
West, thenco KENEWALU, KDMIYUFA to ASERUFA to KEPAMU to GA FUKA 
villages. Natives a little nerv ous hut brou ght an ab und a nc e 
of foods." There was a Patrol Officers' fo ot and bridlo pa th 
from Bena Bena to the Asaro which pa~sed through Moho vot o 
(Moweto) West, Katagu and Kinemaro (Kenewalu), but thoro i s 
no evidence that it went through Komiufa. 2 • The nbs once of 
any other references to Komiuf a woulc su gge st th a t nitc hiso n 
diverged from the usual track to visit thoi r sott l em8n t . 
In C.R. Croft's Report of Octob e r-Nov ember , 1937, i t wil l bo 
remembered th~t he . spent som e tim e in th8 vi ci nj.ty nf OkiufA, 
assembling villagers from ~11 around at th s R3s t Hs us s thorG , 
but he makes no mention of Komiuf3 . H o. d t h r:J i< o m i L! f a ~J c o p l o 
b e en c 1 o s e b y he i s a 1m o s t c e r t a i n t u h a v e fTl a rJ c c on t ~ c t w i t h 
them. 3 • 

A witness calle d Lnk euts - Pora i o f Knveve, t ho thir d 
~ party to the 1961 dispute, cl ai med that in p~o-co n t ~s t t i m ~ s 

the Kaveve and .Komiufa were linked togethe r, a nrl c o ntr c ll Gd 
all the land from ths Labcur Comp o un d dow n t o th e Co r ckn. Hote l. 
Then the two groups ha d qunrro1lo d ovor the do8th ~ F 2 ~a~ iuF n 
man , an d t h e K a v e v e f 1 e rl in t o t h e m o u n t a i ~- , s , 1 r?· :=l v i n ~-. t ~' ;:__ I< c-: rr: j_ u f 2 

in sole command until they in turn woro rl riv e n 2wry . 

1 • m.B. Orken: Findings by Llli3 ~; L ; I Jinl i sc; i n·H.:: :.: , Lr.t nl.: :J i ::) t=·Ut l: b e t we on 0 k i u f a , Cum i u f a 3 n : ! 1-C nt t.: 11 '"' i1 n n ;1 1 · ·L~ _ 
Goroka, 6th - 20th Sept 8n.b :-; I' , 1961 . 

(Files, L2.nd Ti t l es :8mrn i ss ior1 ~ S8roka) 

2 • s 8 e 1 9 4 5 A • N • G • A • u . mar G f t h [' 2 r G 2 ' l'! h i . ~ h ;_: 1_ ~ .. _ :·: 1 j :3 h -.:. 'J! ;' this tr a ck but om i t s all r of c: r 2 n c·e ~fj ~- . :· :n it 1 ( , -~ , 

3. C.R. Croft, op. cit. 
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It was stateq at the hearing that one old Kaveve man, 
.;· To r o h i n i-G e h a k u w i , who ~ was s t i 11 o 1 i v e i n 1 9 61 a n d was b e 1 i e v e d 

to have outlived all other men in the a re a , act uall y resid ed 
on land near the Gorok Hotel in his youth. The fight with 
Komiufa occured when he reached manhood and he took refuge along 
with other survivors a ~ Samagoni, high er up the Zokizoi Valley 
towards IYlt. Otto. Suoh evidence of former occupation might 
seem to have provided K~veve with a strong c ase for compensation, I 

I when the other seven grpups received money for their share of 
the urban land. But by ~ the time of European settlement the f 

Gorok a Hotel area seemsl to have been owned by Seigu or Kami I 
o r both, a nd Kaveve's f b rmer possession was not recognised. 

The curious element in this recogni t ion of tho 
rights of somo of the pkrties and not others is that Komiufa, 
who, like Kavave, had be e n pushe d off this land, was pnid for 
11.5 hectares. The Komiuf a luluai, Zokizopa, who has since dierl, 
received on behalf of his fellow clansmen £57.10.0. To 
S8tisfactorily explain this se e min g anomaly, it must bo assumed I that by 1948 Komiufa had return ed to the Ca rdnazov2 rid ge top, ! 
and that their occupati dn of this elevated position was not 
contested by the other groups. As stated e8rlier Pntrol Officer 
Bill Sippo was happy to llet the luluais sort out the internal 
boundaries among themse ] ves and they appear to ha ve been guid ed 
by the principle of prusent or recent occupancy of the land, 
rather than by traditio 1al, pre-contact claims, 

IY1 r • 8 e p i -IYl o h.2 ,' t h e go v e r n m en t i n t e r p r e t e r , who 
a c c o.m p an i e d P . 0 • S i p p o i 

1
n h i s t r 8 v e r s e c f t h e 1 an d , b e 1 i e v e s t h a t 

Komiufa claimed all the l a n rl between Olohamika Creek, on the I north side of ·Cardnozov2 ' Spur, and the District Office on the sout~~rn side. 1 • There is no doubt that Okiufa and Komiufa 
regarded Olohamika Creek : as their common boundary, but the 
position of Komiufa's southern boundary at the District Office 
is open to question. Ev e n without dividing the map in~o 
squares and tri nngles it can be seen that such an area would 
give Komiufa more than 11.5 hectar es . moreover the Seigu 
people regarded the land around the District Office as theirs, 

1 • Bepi IYloha: Ta lk 2 t Corok~ Te a ch e rs College, 25th July, 1973. 
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I 

I 
. i and it was they who helped clear a small airstrip in 1939 or 19 40 which ran from the base of the Spur down past tho District Office and through tho centre of \ town to the Hote1. 1 • They are unlikely to have cleared land which did not belong to them. 

1 
( 

One final set of evidence or rather absence of evidenco, \ which suggests that Komiu ~ a people remained up on their 
inaccessible ridge tops, is that they are not mentioned anywhere in the A.N.G.A.U. Patrol ~eports of 1944 to 1946. All the other ambient groups were visit~d during this period and their progress in rehabilitation qfter the traumatic experiences cf 1943 is recorded in some detail. 2 ·( Perhaps Komiufa's success in receiving payment for town land rested as much on their lulu8i's . i persuas1ve powers of oratqry as on their rather tenuous foothold on Gardnozova Spu:r. 

i 

SEIGU 

Seigu's claim to ; a substantial portion of what is now the centre of town ilias never in doubt. Their luluai Gelepotamelauho (spelt Her~petamelauho in the transfer document) l 

received £120 far 24 hectn ~e s. Seigu's kin clans Kami and Fan iyufa also each receiv$d £120. This does not necessarily l mean that each group owned Ia conveniently similar area of 24 hectares. It is much more likely that the three luluais got I 
I together and divided the mqney for their total area into three equal po~tions. In fact t ~e re is some doubt that Kami owned I any town land at all (see ~otes below on Kami), but their close I 

kinship t'ies with the other. two groups would have e a rned them · a shar~ of the bounty. 

Using today's 
is not difficult to finrl 

t 

I mRp l of the central part of Goroka it I 
an i area of 24 hectares which belonged I 

I 

1. Information from several sources., including former luluai Gelepetamelp,uho of Seigu (interviewed in 1972 and 1973), Bepi IYloha (interviewed 25th July, 1973) and John Black (porsonal correspondence, August, 1973). 
2. Two volum e s of Gorok a A.N.G.A.U. Rep orts , 19 4 3-~9 a nd 1944-45, in the Nntion a l Archives, Port Moresby. 



-26-

to Seigu. But it has t o bo r e memba re d th e t th e g r ound kn ow n as Wonobeg, which t ake s in 11 th~t po r tio n o f th e commerc i a l centre o f the t ow n fr om Pa r e r Str ee t do wn t o the Co r o ka Ho tel (an are2 of 3.85 hect a r e s v p lu s th e more r ece n t urb a n de ve l opm e nt beyond th e Hot e l on both pidos o f the o l d La c Road , wes not purchased in 1948. 1 • 

Thus a t thG tim~ of th e original purcha so in 1 968 the town l and bought from i Se igu woul d have be e n bo rdor ed in th o I north by the bnundary wit h Komiufa , which, as we h0ve s eo n, \ W2S probnbly the base of the mount Sitani - Ca rdn ozO V3 Spur I elev a tion, and to the east would have inclu ded th e Ca r do n Str a t resid e nti a l a rea. All th~ land south-eas t of this pa rt o f t hQ town was Se igu ground, so lthere is no questi on o f d i sf) u ted I trib a l boun da ries her e . Howe ver Seigu's south-wost nnd ·west B r n bo und 8. r i e s cannot l be defined with 2 n y preci sio n ,g s there is c onsider a ble ove i l app ing o f cl a ims. As f a r as Seig u' s boundary with Kami is con de rn e d this presented no pr oblem . t Close kinship tiBs en a bled
1 

the lulu a is to r ea ch a happy c ompromise I as has alr ead y been noted. ! But Se i gu's wes t e rn boun rlA ry with Asariufa was another matte t a ltog e ther. Th8 tw o grou os were traditional enemies 2nd even torl a y ther e i s no Rgr eemo n t n where their mutual boundRry was pl a c ed . mr. Soso Subi , wh o is an import a nt Asariuf a l Bade r 2 n rl busin ess ma n, cl a im ed in a recent interview that his peopl e o wne d a ll t he l ~ n d a cross the north end of tho a irstri p a s far ns S .enmship s' m0i n store in the cBntre of t o wn. 2 • Such a n a r e0 would h(\ ve cut l deep into Se igu territ o ry, jt:!nd woulr. cert ninly ha ve d EJ ;Jr iv od Seigu of some of the 24 hect a res accredite d ta it in tho I 1948 transfer. Seigu a n d ~.'=lm i, o n the ot he r ha n d , to gethe r I claim to have owned most of th e l nnd a r o un d the 't op ' (n orthe rn ) end of the airstrip, with ~i sd o m Str ee t nea r th e Yaw n Li b r a ry forming part o f the boundnry with As a riuf a . A l a r ge clum p of bamb oos at t he base of the wes t er n en d o f Mt. Si t9 ni, cl ose to where thB track to t ho Loo kout br a nches of f Wis dom Stre et , 

1. Wonobeg wa s purch ased in 19 51 . Se e Wa nob2g Fi lo : Purchase o f Ad diti ona l Lnnd Roqui r ec by tho Ad in ' st r a i on 3t CDRDKA f o r Township Pur oses . (L~~~ Sec i o n , istr ic t )ff ico, Co r o ka .) 

?. Mr . Soso Subi, in tcr vi c w8d 2nc Au r:; ust , 19 3 , t i s h'J e . 
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se e ms to ha v e bee n re ga~ded as a ma rk e r be tw e en Kom iuf a , 
Seigu and Asa riuf a . 1 • . 

I 
It i s poss ibl e t o trace th e f o rtun es o f th e Sei gu 

p eo~le durin g the 1930s , no t only fr om inform a ti on p r ovi ded I by th e ms e lve s , but a ls o ! fr om an int e restin g r e f e r e nc e to th em 
' 2 in C.R. Cr oft's 1937 Pa tr o l Report. • Puttin g togeth e r the 
I v a ri o us p i e c es of inform a tion it is easy to s ee wh y their 

boun da ry with Asariuf a wa s in rlispute. When Cr oft pa trol l e d 
throu gh th e Asar o in Oc ~ober a nd November 1937, he di s c ov r ed 
the Seig u peop le living i in exile a mong the As a r o pe op l e : 

I 
l 

"S AI GU VILLAGE:: This vill e. ge nea r ASERAU, previously wa s situat ed betwee n mCHOVETO No . 2 a nd GAFUKU. Th e y des e rte d th e ir l a n ds ad a r es ult o f th e fr e quent a ttacks fr om these t wo vil lag e s . As l th ey have mada pea c e with th ese former e nemi e s th e y ~o w de sir e to r etu rn t c th e ir own dom c'ins i11 s t ead of livin g o n a li e n propert ~ . Thi s they did. Their shifting pro v e d to be an opportu nit y f or good cont a ct ~s th e sur ro un din g vill ages p l a nt ed cr oton~ as signs of fri endhsip a nd a ire d them in the construction o f their villa ge , while th e Patr o l WRS 
present For a r im e ." 

I 
Ke nn e th Read's , 19 54 c! ia gr nm o f po litic a l ti e s a n rl 

oppositi on s be tw ee n Gahu ku-G ama tribes 3 · shows Se i gu as being 
in a st a t e of hostility ~ ith Aseriufa a nd Ukiuf a , wh o were 
both a lli ed with Gahuku, l one o f the trib e s mentione d by Croft I in 1937 as ha ving ha rras $ed the Sei gu peop le and c a us in g their I 

withdr a wal t o As a ro. Se i gu's app r eci atio n o f the he l p r e c e iv ed I 

by their As a ro frien ds w ~ s still being expressed in 19 48 , 
when ~elepetamelauho pass ed ove r s ome o f the £12 0 re c ei v ed 
from the Administration ~o Asaro l eade rs. 4 • But th e rec e nt 

I counter-cl a ims be tween Sos o Subi a nd th e Se igu inf o rm an ts 

1. Inform a tion fr om Gele pe t ame lauh o o f Sei gu, int er vi ewee on 5th September, 1973. 

2. C.R. Croft, op. cit. 

3. Read, Ne w Guinea Cultures, op. cit. 

4. Inf r: r mPtion fr om GelepGt a meL:wh o , in ter vi e wed 5 th Sep temb a r, 1973. 

~~, ' (,11 
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would suggest that ancient hostilities as well as old frien8ship s 
can linger on. I 

I 

Thus, in spite [of Croft's optimism about the nsi gns 
of friendship", enmity n$ver really ceased with As a riufa, 
at least until one of th ~ by-products of war in 1943 to o k a 

i stern hand in bringing t~em together. This was a virulent 
strain of Japanese dysentery, kn c wn as Shiga, 1 • which swept 
through the Highlands in \1943 and 1944. AccordinQ to Jim ! 
Taylor 11 10,000 cases were treated in hospitals in the first 

I 2. I year.' He told a conference of represent a tives of the l Administration and the missions in may, 1947 that "when 
I 

dysentery appeared in a ~e ry virul ent f o rm, th e Australian 
# Army and the Fifth Air Force of the United States threw all ! their resources availabl e into combatting that epidemic." i 

t 

Thus for the s ~cnnd time Seigu experienced the 
I 

powerful intervention of !! th e white man. A sma.ll field hospital 
set up near Siokiei (the site is today occupied by a poultry I 
f arm) to s e r v e the troop s! o f 8 en a F o r c e was t a k en o v e r b y 
A.N.G.A.U. for the treatm~ nt of Shiga victims and the lives I of hundreds of local vill~ gers were saved. Patients came from 

I all over the valley, incl~ding those who had been traditional 
foes. In an interview of! Seigu people, con ducte.d by two 
Goroka Teachers College students in 1972, old memories o f this I 

I time were revived: 1 

I 

"When whiteman's fit;ht came they ~l uilt 
the hospital - then we wore not frightened, 
because we alre ~d y s aw some whitemen. 
When we saw scme sol diers coming to 
the hospital - 9h , their arms nnd legs were cut really no good. 

i 
"When we br ought ; fo od from our garden 
they gave us knives, axes, shells, salt 
and 'kumukumu' (white egg cou;rie) 
Then the do ctorq in this hospital found 
many of us sick ~ It was th a t big 
sickness - you know - when you ex cret e 
blood. All of Js e verywhere her e we 
get it. me n, wom e n and children just 
died. Whiteman's medicine made us well 
so we came. Not only us but our fri8nds 
Kami and Asaro and a lso the ones thnt 
we used tc fight. We all cam e t o the 
hospital but we did not fight. And we 
SAid, 'Its good, if whi temen game they 
will help us stop fightinCJ. 1

" • 

1. Inform8tion from J ohn Black when he rovisitod Coroka in may, 1972. 

? • & ~- , · , Se e h o t tom o f n ex t p a g 8 • 
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An excellent account of the Shiga epidemic from n i 
European source has beeri provided by mr. John Black. He 

t 
W2S Jim Taylor's 2 I/C at Garoka 1 • from 3rd march to 24th 
September, 1944, during lthe A.N.G.A.U. administration of the 
area. He recalls that: 

"A principal undertb king during this pGriod was the containment of1 the SHIGA dysentery epid r~rnic. Being a fly-born disease it necessitatGd radical innovation in natiVe hygiene - particularly the destruction of sug~r cRne chewings, discar de d vegetable rubbish, : etc., Rnd the meticulous provision of fly-proof lRtrines, the disposal 
of pig manure and b ny rubbish in which flies could breed. ! 

'·' S E G U vi ll a g e u n de r l t h e n a t i v e A P 0 p r o v i rJ e d t h e first classic example that flies could be eliminated and the death toll \ stopped. APD explained to his vill agers the lif e cycle of the SHIGA dysentery organism and countered successfully the notion 
that the deaths we~G due to sorcery. Na tive und erst8nding spre h d from this source throughout the district and, ~ o st import a nt, the populRtion lliere trained to ta~e the required doses of 
sulf3guanadine. 1 

"Taylor's arlvice to i ANGAU HQ, moresby, of tho dangers of the dysentery outbreak was first appRrently disregarded which forced en appeal to he made to the HQ of New GuineR Force. 
Fortuitously, Genetal Blarney happened to be at N.G.F. HQ and it was brought to his notice. He immediately ord Gred the availability of 
massive quantities lof sulfaguanadine, medic a l personnel and JEEP \transport to minimise human porterage necessar~ to mastar the outbreak. 

l 
l "As it was, hundreds of p8ople dier.. Taylor's 

prompt and forcefu ~ action in communicating direct with the co~mander of New Guinea force did not endear him ' to ANGAU HQ and he was told 

1. Wartime spelling of ·c· roka 

Footnote s continued from pa ge 28: 
2. J.L. Taylor, District Officei, Central Highlands: Address to Conference of Representatives of Administration anc missions, may, 1947, Recorrl of Proceedings, p27 

3. Transcript of interview with former lulu a i Gerepetamelauh6 and Councillor Kirupanu EsA~ at Seigu No. 1, by Goroka Teschers College students Sister m. Vi a nney and mr. Henry matsnnki, June, 1972. 
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I 
not to ignore th~ usual channels of command 8gain .• • • • • • • • • • • There \ is no doubt the Highlands could have been decimated if this had not been contained. 

i 
"One of the most important effects of the e~Jidemic in the COROKA valley was the self discipline the community it ~e lf had to adopt . It was in fact a major influence in their fin a l acceptance of government contr Gl and the containm ent of tribal fighting. 

"APO, le1tor to be~ome the f irst successful n~tive entrepeneur in the Highlands, had a very cons i derable role in the succQss o f the containment of dyse ntery and then focussi ng nativo s ocieties' pr8occup at ion away from aggressive wqrf8re to perh0ps ~n eque.lly aggressive p r eocc up a ti on with the acq ui sition of wealth and the potential of their 1 trib~l l~nd as the rea 1 sour 9 e of the cargo • t! • 

I 
John Bl ac k held a high \opinion of Apo, who could "communic 8tFJ 
on an intellectual bas ~s wit h Europeans, under stand something I of Europe a n values and icommunicate on this basis of understanding 
with his own people. ~e was in the uniqu e position of hoing I 

c able to communicate bet:woon two cultures." Unf ortunately , 
ill-health in l~ter y e ~rs has prevented Apo from continuing 
to take a prominent rol~ in Se igu affa i rs . 

\ 
! 

I 
Celepetamelau~ o 1 s recollections of Se igu 1 s trc:wrnatic 

first contact with Euro pea ns a re of considerable interest, I although some reservati bns must be attached to his identification 
' of mick Lea hy as the pr~ncipal actor in t he qrnma . Thi s is 

becausG, as in the cns e l of Okiuf e 's first en c ou nter with 
white men, only one prospector is said to have been present . r 

I 
After explain f ng to tho student s that when Europenns 

first appenred 11 WB said [ these mon must be our de2d people 
coming back from that ur,1kno wn pl ace bohinc thB hills,n 2 • 
Celepet ame lauh o recallod the details of the first occas i on ! that a whito man appeared: 

1 • 

2. 

I 
\ 
f 

"The first whit.emon, IYlRst8 ffligi, he put his 

Personal communic Gti o n from John Olack, 1st SGptember , 1973. 
T h o s e a r e t h o ~< am i h i 11 s , t 0 t h e s o u t h e ~~ s t c f t h e 0 . n c:!. Benn RivGr. 
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tent right under here (pointing bel ow 
village westward) and we were very frightened. We. did not want him to st a y becaus e we thought he would bring more dead people. 
We, watched him carefully • A 11 the me n -we· watched him carefully. We hid 8 11 
a round his tent . The wcmen we put them with the children in a hou s e far out . Whon he went away in

1
the morning we called al'l the women back- . 11 • 

I 
It is assume6 that 'Ma s ta mi gi' is Gelep e t a mel euho ' s way of i 

saying 'Mast ~ Mick', which is the na me by which Mick Lea hy I 

is known to ~ hose who carrie d For hitn on his e pic pr os pecting 
journeys in the 1930s. As his partnership with Mick Dwyer 
did not continue after 1930 it is understand2blo that the I 

latt~r would : not be rem e mber e d by tho Asaro Valley peo ple, 
but it could 1 be expocto c th a t mon like Gelepotamolauho would 
remember if t here were one or two white men in the party. i 

i 
Wh a t is so instr uc tiv e about these fir st c ontact 

·I 
I 

.i 
f 

.: ' 

I ' 
stories is nmt so much the r e c oll ec tion of which Eu rop ea ns I! 
were involv eb , as the rememb e r ed reactions o f tho l 0ca l peop le. ·I.' I 
In the writt ~ n accounts of first cont act , both mi ck Lea h y f 

ancl Jim T a yl ~ r state th a t th e Highlands ' poop .l.e initi a lly . I 

regarded the~ as spirits of the ancestors returnin g fr om the I 
dead, and theso village memories lend vivid suppor t to their 
claim. Jim Taylor told th e conference of Adminis tra tion 8nd I 

, .. ·, I 
!i I, 
I I,,. 

I · 
i 

l'llission representatives in 1947 th a t the Highlandars "wer o 
very mystica ~ people who welcomed us as their dead roturnod, jl 
and would ha~e . sold the whole of the highlands to the Gov e rnrn un l I 

I' or to any pe , son who would have settled amongst th em. 112 • . 

Th Js the first encounter with Eur .:Jpoans set the I 1/. ; 
I ' stage for qu ~ te dramatic ch ange s in the Goroka area a nd helped f 

prepare the ~a y for the acceptance of a ll kin ds o f wondors I which would ~hartly unfold. 

I 
I I n 1fYla r c h , 1 9 3 3 , t h o o p o c h m a k i n g L en h y- T 3 y l c1 r 

mt. Hagen Patrol marchod out from the tiny sta t i on at Be n8 Be na 

1. G.T.C. studonts' trAnscript of int e rvi ew , nr . cit . 
2. Administration a n rl Mi ssion s ' Co nfore ncG, Mny 19~7 , p. 27, op . cit. 

I. 
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and during the first day's walk the Seigu people claim thr. t 
they passed through th~ir territory. Spirits of the de ad . ! 
an c e s to r s they m i g h t h ~ v e b e en , . b u t b y no w so m e o f t h e v i 1 J. a g o r r:3 
wore propared to carry ! their cargo for them. 

I 

i 
I "We carried their cnrgo," Gelepetamol r:l'.Jho states, "and ; we went with them up to Yabiyufa. T~en we came back and they carried it t ~ Wahgi. And we were happy about that." i 
l 
i 

were probably not \ the carriers described by mick Leahy I "I brought along a number of Bina Bina nAtiv e s to l-:elp with 
cargo 111 ·- but join ~ d the party as it progrBssed across 
v a 11 tJ y • H a

1
d m i c k ~ e e h y c n gog e d t h em o f f i c i a 11 y h e 

would hAve expocted th J m to go all the way to mt. Hagen and 
.· they did not yet have quite enough confidence in the whiteman 

do that. 

I Their exile rlear Asaro must have occurrerl shortly 
1933 when the Be ~ a Post was temporarily closed. In his 

1934 Patrol Repdrt, JoHn Black wrote of tribal fighting nt 
·. Gena Gena flaring up " J ince E.rn • . Peocock, a miner, loft the I The Asaro Valley would have been similarly affGcted . 
·Gelepetamelauho says t ~at Seigu 1 s harrassmBnt occurred Hafter I 
Jim Taylor," that is, p!robably some time between Jonunry an d 
Octob8r, 1934. I 

When C.R. Crof t intervenod to rostore the Sei gu I 
their lands ih 1937, they must have boon ready to 

do anything for the whi \ e-man in return. Ccnsoquently in 1939, 
when they were asked t oi give up tho northern portion of thoir 
ancestrc.l gro und for an i airstrip, they complied with enthusiasm. 1 Unfortunately, no patro~ reports covering this pe riod survive, 
so dates and personalit ~ es ·involved can ·only be guessed at. l 

Police SGrgeant Enka. th ' nks that tho kiap resp onsible for I c CJ n s t r u cLi o n of tho 1 
' S e i g u 1 t:1 irs trip was H • E • H 'l m i 1 t c n , I succeeded N.D. McWilliam At Bona Benn in Septomber, 1939. I 

Gelepotamelauho remembers the frenzied assault made on the kunai 
nd scrub with bush knives and axes supplied by thG kiap, as tho 

cwhole of Seigu turned out in c ~ rnival spirit to clenr the 

1. 'L nn d Th At Tim e F o r ~ot 1 , op. cit. p .1 S2 
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strip. 1
• They begJn at the clump of bamboos mentioned earlier, and worked their way dow n towards the site of Coroka I 

Hotel. The strip ~auld therefore have run north-west a nd south-! 0 e ast at about a n angle of 45 to the present aerodromo . I 
I 

The land~ng of the first air craft on the 'Soigu' I strip has been des~ribed by Bepi Moha, who was presont:-
1 
t 

"Tho small pl a ne stopped up near where mt. Kiss (popular loca~ name for mt. Sitani) starts . A white man with other kiaps showed the plane whero to land. The! plane did not have any roof on top. r 
I 

"The pilot did i not know where to l and so we collected some grass we [ had cut a nd mado a fir e and smoke came up. So the pilot saw it a nd hG could land. We made a very big fire and l ots of smoke and the plane cam $ down and down and down. This 'm as ta' had a ja c ket
2

- a black one. He steppe~ down and the ~anakas • had never seen a plane on the gr o und \before and some were shaking with fright. But most of them crowded around tho plane a nd a policeman had to remove them. $o we did not see much of that pilot. He didn 't stay too long - just a \Few minutes and then he took off. • I 

nThis airstrip lwas not used much because the ground was vor.y wet and tho kiags decid ed to build a s t r i p up h e r
1
e a t H u m i l a v e k a • 11 

• 

I 
Another ey~witness, Administration driv er Beraro of Ya biuf a , adds dra~a to Bepi's story by saying that to I protect his fragile ~ ittle aeroplane the pilot was forced to fire a pistol ove F the heads of the crowd and there was a wild stampede of pknicking villagers. This may have been on another occasion, \ perhaps when ther e were no police prosont to control the crowd. 

I 
! 
I 

t 1. Golepotamelauho's responses to my questions wo re made i n ext rem e l y ex p~ r e s s i v e G a h u k u , w h i c h was t ran s l a t e d ba ck rather prosnically into Pidgin by his ~rand- daughter . It was his expression and gestures which conv eyed this rango of enthusiasm, rather th a n the flat, matter of fwct tone of the ' tr a nsl e1ti on. 
2. Used by a European to day , this word would be objectionable, but it comes very naturally from people . like Oepi, who uso . it to describe u n sophistic D ted vi 11 8 g e r s. 
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3. Be;Ji ffloh a: T 8 1 k a t G o r o k c~ T 8 8 c h e r s C o J. l o ~J e , 1 4 t h J u l y , 1 9 7 =~ . 

'•I 

..... 1-,.,..;dlj 



•q 
'•. 

- -------·--·- - ------------: 

-34-

'Seigu' a·rstrip was still used occasionally during the War by light rep onnaissance planes and was marked on a September, 1943 mil ~ tnry .map as an "L5 Reece. aircraft str ip 11
• ·John Black recalls kee ing in 1944 the wrecked frame of on e I 

of these L5 Reece planes on the ov erg rown site of this small I airfield. 1 • 

The histo f y of 'Seigu' airstrip has been dealt 
with at some length l because it does help to put into context the Seigu peoples' illingne ss to sell this ground to the Administr ati on in 1 , 48. The first experience of a white man, Croft's benevolent ~ntervention in 1937, construction and use ! of the airstrip in 939, the Army's prompt measures to 
avert a major disas er when the Shiga epidemic struck in 1943 and 1944, and Apo' s ·important role as the bri dge man between tho old and the new \ways - all th ese ir1fluences prepar ed the Seigu people for thoir ready acceptance of change and the growth of a town in 

1
their midst. 

I 

KA~I: I 

I The inclusion of Karriveh - the peop le of Kami - on the 1948 I Purch a s e Document ma y ha ve been a mistake. When Bapi Moha i was asked recently, ~Wha t town land did the Kami people I own?" he replied ver t firmly, "No, they did not hc=1ve any ground." "Not even Isamitori, their luluai," I persisted. "Dh, well, he was a big man and
1
they gave him something," Bepi explained. "He just came in and !got the pay.n 2 ·senior La nd Titles Commissioner max OrkJn, ~peaking out of a we a lth of ·experienco on these matters, thinks that Bepi may very well be correct. 3 • 

1. Personal comm~nication frbm John Black, 1st September, 1973 . The military map from which he quotes is CSI/NGF map No. 285, September, 1943. 

2. Bepi Moha: Talk at Coroka Te a ch e rs Coll ege , 16th July , 1S7 3 . 
3. m.R. Orken: Personal communicati on, 22n d August, 1l 73 . 
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However, there is s ~ me evidence to suggest that Isamitori 
could have been justified in claiming a share. Kami 1 s close 
kinship ties with S ~ igu and Faniufa would give Is8mitori 
a clear conscience ln the matter. But documents rel2ting to 
the tronsfer of two other 2ro os of nntiv e land, CENAUKA Rn8 
CAMUSICUNACU, which l were purchased in 1951 and 1955 r espoc tively, give grounds for believing that Kami had more than e kinship l right to the money. ! 

Genauka wl s an agricultural lease made available t~ I Mr. A.N. Pentland, ~ World War 1 air ace who took up coffee ! 
farming at Coroka a ~ ter further distinguished military service during World JWar 2. 1 

Cenauka borders the east sicie of the 
Goroka airstrip and \covers an area of 17 hectares which in 
1 9 51 w 8 s made up o f 1 

" reason a b 1 y f l at k una i-covered g r o u n ~" a r: .-J 
"very rough broken qround." 1 • The "joint owners" of the fl?.t I area were "the nati~es SEI'UPA and HOffiJPA of KAMI vill age ." 
The important point !is that this "reasonably flat, kun8i­
covered ground" is night up against the airstrip, and it is • I a reasonable assumption, I think, that some of the land 
inside the airstrip !boundary, as we ll as thi s Gonauka Qround 
on the outside of t~e boundary, belonged to Kami. The 
original Kami village is about two miles from Gensuka, and 
Seigu and Faniyufa ~re each about 1~ miles from it. 2 • To 
reach their Gena u k a jg arden s the K ami fJ eo p l e w o u l d h a v EJ had 
to pass through Fanilufa, which lay directly in th8ir p<:tth. 
8 ut because of thei r f kinship t i os this woul d hav 8 p r8sen ted 
no problem. The topf graphy of the land in this area would 
lend itself to the division of garden lands into thr~e mor e I or less par~llel corri do rs, Seigu to the east, Kami in the 
centre and Faniufa t b the west. All three corridors may wel l 
have extended into t he town a rea. Seigu's and Faniufa's l . certainly rlid and th ~ circumstantial evidence from the Genauka I 

document suggo s ts th~t Kami could also have -owned some l~nrl 
inside the 1948 town l boundary- but hardly 24 hectares, as 

1. Arthur T. Carey, Pa trol Officer, to the District OfficEJr, Corok a , 20th October, 1950: "Investigati on Report on Agricultur sl Leas e Applied f or by Mr. A.l\1 .. Pontl a nrl. 11 File No. 34/2/1, District Office, Cor oka . . 
2. Se e A.N.C.A.U. 1 Mr.J p o f Bonn Bona r:~rl1B 1 , Mc:n:ch/Apri.l , 1945. 

------------------------------~----~-----------------~~J~ 
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document. 

Patrol 6fficer Ar t hur Careyts sketch map or the 1 I Genauka lease • s8ows a dotted contour line which separated 
the 9 hectares of flat land from the 8 hectares of 11 steep I 
broken ground 11 , w~ich 

cut by Cenauka Cr~ek. 
1'APO of K.AMI", wh ~ is 

I the previous sect~on. 
I 

latter drops down into a small valley 
This broken ground belonged to one 

in fact the Apo of Seigu mentioned in 
The fact that Apo is described a s 

a Kami man only h ; ghlights the class link s botwecn the tw c 
groups. MGX Orke~ believes that Apo came originally from I 
Asaro, but settle1 with the Seigu when Croft restored them 
to their traditional lands in 1937. 2 • rJ ~ 

I Apo is also named. as one of the owners of Gamusigunagu, 
along with a man called Gimiho. The 1955 purchase document 
describes t~em as i"both of SEIGU village 11

• 
3 • Camusigunagu 

is an extension ofl the small Genauka Creek ravine and is a 
steep-sloping, ir egularly shaped area of 13 acres, abutting 
the Coroka Hotel, 

1
Fox Street (south), R.F. Bunting's residential 

block and the FreEJmasons' building. It can be impli e d t ha t 
I 

Seigu's boundary ~ith Kami was the west ridge of Cenauka I Creek ravino. 1 

In 8epi lmoha' s second talk at Goroka T8achers 
College 4 ·he was p ~epared to revise his earlier claim that 
Kami owned no 'to ~n' land, and said that he believed they 
may have owned the; ground "where the red fire trucks are 

r 
parked" , next to t jh e D. C . P. • Tower . This fits in very nice 1 y 
with the suggestion that Kami's share of the Genauka land 
may have extonded ~nto the D.C.A. aerodrome lease. 

i 
i 

Understa~ dably, Kami is not mentioned in any of I 

1. See Coroka land file 34/2/1, filed with Carey's Investigation Report. 

2. I have not been ablo to interview Apo to confirm t hi s ; 

.. 
: • 
I ... 

'I 
I 

howe v e r 0 s i s o N e g i o f F an i u f a b eli e v e s h e i s 8 1 S r-d g u 'T1 n ~l t r tF 

3. H.J. fllater, Patrol Officer, to the District Cu. :r Hni~·;siuncr~ E • H • 0 • Go r o k 8 , 5 t h 0 c to b or , 1 9 55 : 11 P u r c h o s o o f L. cl 11 d V. no lJ;n 2s Cnrnusigun <:lCJU f r om Natives of Sei gu • 11 

(! . 2 5th July, 1973 
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1 
the 1937 Patrol R~ports in the Kainantu file. Like Seigu (and I 

Faniufa) they wer~ forced to abandon their lands when t he \ 

combined forces o ~ 8ena ond the Cahuku tribe and its allies 
became too strong !for them. As explained by Bepi moha, 1 "the 
role of a tribal eader was to make sure that his peo plg were 
only throatoned o one front at a time. If he was throatenod 

i on one side he wo~ked hard 2t mRking peace with his enemies on 
r 

the other side. If attack came on both fronts therG was only 
one course of oct~on left - to fleG to one's nearest allies. 

I 
I 

However ~ by 1944, the Kami people were re - established on 
their traditional ]lands and there are several references to them 
in the A . N ., C . A • U • ;pat r o l R e ~:::-) r t s of 1 9 4 4 and 1 91.1 5 • I n November 

I 1944, Warrant Off~cer J.H.L. Armitstead was stationed at 1 Segu 
Native Hospital' ~hich by this time had been closed but was still 
maintained as a Pdlice Post. 2 • Armitstead patrolled through the 
surrounding villages between the 10th and the 28th November, 
with two oxpross Jbjectives~ Thoso were 

11 ( i) 

(ii) 

I 

Preparation of Coffee Plots adjacent to Villages 
an1d 

i 
In~truct agd Encourage Village Natives in Coffee 
P l ;an t i n g • " ' 

I 

! 

Komi was! one of the groups singled out for instruction 1 
and Armitstead repprted that on the 20th and 21st of November 

I . 4 he visited the vil~age and 11 KAmi Coffee plots (were) completed. 11 • 

The village people! then had about o fortnight's wait for tho 
arriv3l of tho cof ee seedlings. Armitst ead met Capt8in A.J. 
S c h i rt d 1 e r , 0 . I . C • b f A i y u r a Ex p e r i m en tal S t at i o n , 8 t t h e 8 u -1 a i Drome, and togethe r 
Arufa . This was o~ 

l 
! 

they inspected the coffee plots at Komi an d 
December 6th, 1944. The next cloy tho first 

I (. 

i 
I 

1. Talk to Goroka Teachers Collego studont s, 25th July, 1973. 
2. Dysentory cases were still occuring, but patients wero treatod at Coroka, where a hospital WRS establishGd on t he land which l ater becamo known ns 'Airpos' (see sGction on Okiufo). Information about the Coroka Hospitnl frorn fYir . John Bl~ck, 1st September, 1973. 

3. J .H.L. Armitst ead , 
RGports, 1944-45. 

J .H.l. Armitst oa d: 

Patrol No. 12 of 4~/45 . Gur oka Patrol 
f\l;;tional f\:rch ivc s , Por t rilor.es!Jy. 
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coffee plants Rrrlved from Aiyurn and planting took placo from 
the 8th to tho 16th. At abo ut the samo time WR rrant Officor 
Tom Fox w2s putti ~ g th8 finishing touches to a telophono line 
11 from G A R 0 K ,··, t. o 8 t N A s t a t i on '1 an d o n f rom t h e r o t o ~ i n i n t o g u • 

' 

Armitstead was back 2gain in lato Janu8ry to inspect 
the coffee plots b t Arufa and Kami, and he noted in his Report 1 • 
th a t, until he had begun patrolling this aroo., there had bo cn I 

no Administration i Patrols since Captain L.C.R. Kyngdon (then 
a patrol officer) ! was at Goroka in November and December, 1941. 
mr . KynGdon recal~s that he took over from Patrol Officer 

I A.J. Robertson at 5ona in mid-May, 1941 and b ocnme tho first 
Eurooaan to b8 st~tioned permamently at Goroka on October 12th, ' J 

1941. He had a r$in water tank cerried Rcross fro111 Elen a on the 
following Sundny bnd confessos that 11 1 Rm AfrF:Iid th8 l I rather 
pulled Gepi's leg ! by telling him that +his object coming down 
into the creek in l the dusl< WEl S a motor truck 1 11e had, of c ourse, 
seen one in fllndang.'' 2

' Howover, L.C.R. l<yngdon remained at: 
I Coroka right throughout 1942, maintaining a staging post for ana Rnbaul 

refugees f~om mad~ngAen route to mt . HaQen . He was in contAct I . 

with the local pemple during this time but normal Pa trols were 
I 

suspended, and pr~sumably no Reports wero wr itton, 

Armitstead statos that thero were no patrols 11 owing 
to the presenc8 o ~ Bona Forc8 11 , but he conCl":] de s thG.t a 2t rong 
European influonc ~ contjouud: 

l 
11 With th l presence of troops in thi s area 
in large numbers it has benefitted the 
district by brinQing more natives out of 
hiding for ~ensus purposes. A c e rtain 
amount qf credit must bo given to the 
members !of the 8 . P .C. stationed on Police 
Posts. ) . 

"No true lcensus has been taken in this area 
before ciwing to conditions prevailing in 
pre-war [ day~ - nativos not sure of the 
white m~n, tribnl fighting ancl J\drninistration 
Field Staff calling natives from their 
villages to other villages or the European 

1. PJo. 19 o f 44 /4.5 , J;Jnuary, 194~) . 

2. P crson~l communication from mr . L.C.R. Kyngdon, 
tJ f l~ o \JJ r 8 l , N ow ~ o u t h LU .?. 1 o s . 
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i 
station for census purposes. 111 • I 

! He was overwhelmed to the point of embarrassment I 
by the response to ~ is recruitment drive for lnbourers to wor k at the Aiyura Agric ~ ltural Experimental Station. He obtDined I 194 volunteers and bad to knock back at least another 100. ' Undoubtedly tho dis yribution of coffee plants had made its' 
impact on the villagers. Armitstead noted that "some of these 
natives have worked lpre-war, but most of them were on cargo I linos during the pr~sence of Bena Force." The cargo line l experience could not have been all that bad, despite the unh8ppy l memories which midd~e-aged village men recall today. i 

i 
I 

The coff~e plots must have been Armitstoad 1 s special I concern. In Octobe 4 1945, now promoted to the rank of Lie ute nan t , he pAtrolled throug~ the area again, and made a point of visitinQ I Komi, to see how thd coffee was progressing: 

I 11 A 11 p 1 o t sl in t h e a r e a I pat r o 11 e d we r e inspects~ and pruned ••••• Instructions and t a 1 k s g i vie n to n a t i v e s on t h e n e c e s s i t y of cleaning the plots, planting of wind 
2 breaks, ahd planting of inter-row crops. 11 

• l 
l He noted that Kami now had a population of 319 (233 adults and 96 child r en). Hi~ comments on the Census work a re interesting: 1 

I 
l 

0 Since the ! last potrol to this soc.tion of the r[~A BENA ar8a, a few hun dred new names have been entered in the village books. It appears very encouraging to me as it sho ili s cor.fidence in the nativos towards t ~ e Administration. migrations are still !large but this is to be expected f o r s om e t i me y e t , n s t h e __ v i ~ 1 n g e r s .. Jl..££ 
~-uEl.._~..!_h~~~~~~--9..~~~?-~-?-~_!:_~.E_ being cha r d out in the figh~g~~-3~ 

~ I 
'· 
J 

Armitstead, No. : 19 of 44/45, op. cit. 
Lieutenant J.H.L. Armitstead: Patrol No. 11 of 45/46. 
my underlining. This confirms the belief that Kami, Faniufa c:.nd Se igu were 811 di slodged from tho.i.r lnncJs durin c1 the trib81 f i gh ting. A [l (; rsonal intorviow with mr. Osiso Nog i of F0niuf2. rBmoved a ny fur t hGr doubts ( soc se c tion o n Fen i ufR) . 

- --- ---- --- --··- , __ .. .. _ ·-~ .. ·-
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This is to be encouraged, as it shows a tendensy towards peace in the area which may la S. t. 
I 

"Births :and deaths are reasonably low. Young dhildren are comparativoly scares throughout the area, this has been caused by the d y s je n t e r y e pi de rn i c about 1 8 months ago • 11 

The 1 u l l a i s a t K ami we r e S e k 1 i a i r an d I( u 1 i h a e • Armitstead found r hat most villages in the aroa had from 2 to 4 luluais, eac~ representing a clan or sub-clan within the larger group. He l noted that 

I '' they p u 11 against tho real Chief 1 • at times ~and I r ) ceive complaints occasionally that certain sections of a village will not co­operate : in a task. This is generally overcom e by cnlllng in tho Luluai in charge of the sectior in question and reprimanding him. 
11 All officials have been allocated by pro-Ula r Staff o f the Administration. I have chnngod nono. ~ost villages hav~ Pidgin English interpreters. 1; 

\ 
However, in spite of occasional frictions, Armitstead found that 

"Rll vill:ages are back to normal living conditions since the Military Force s hnvo m o v e d 8 u. t • N a t i v o s an d t h e ~ r Chi e f t a i n s visit t h'o Ben a 8 en a station • regular 1 y with native foods: They brin g in t hoir major prpblems for ar bitration instead of settl :~ng same with 'Strung 8ows'." 

Armitste~d did not stay long enough in tho atoa to l 
I see the Komi coffe~ come to flower and then witness the first I 

harvesting of the hherrios. When Pat rol Officer Tom Leaboater I visited the Kami h~mlets on 25th march, 1949, he noted that \ 

I 

1. As hns been pointod out by Read('~ V al~', p.33), there were noharEdi tnry 'Chiefs' as such in Coroka-Gamn society. The situation often 2rose where the man a ppointed by the Ad~inistration as luluai or paramo unt luluai did not comm a nd the respect of tho villagers, who r ec o gn is ed other 'big men' as their le2de rs for the ti me being. 
2. 8y 19LJ 5 , Goroka W8S tho hond st at i on for t he Reno !J on:1 sub-district. Armitster1d pr ob obly rno <Jn s Guroka whon he refer s to 11 the Oena De nA stntion". 

- - -·- - - ----

I, ,. 
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the gardens were and well-stocked, and that 

"such plc.cps as Seigu have adopted the practice of planti~g beyond their own needs as a ready market exists among the Europoc.n population for the e ~ cess. All vari et ies of 1outhern vegetable ' aro under cultivation. tr • 

l 
There is no mention ! in this Report of coffee, which should ! hsve been approaching its' first harvesting by this time. 
However, it is obvious that the people had seen the valuo of I . cash crops and were ! well on the way towards participRting in I tho 'urbGn' economy~ If Komi did hsve any town land to sell they I would have neoded n~ convincing about the desirability of making 
it availe.ble Certainly whon fYir. 'Jerry 1 Pentland applied for 
his agricultur2l le f so over Genauka in .1950 for the purpose 
of growing coffee, f ho K8mi owners of the land were able to : 
eppreciatE his motives, und no doubt hoped to benefit from his I presence. Their willingness to part with this ground for a coffee plnnt2tion must hAV I given the infant plantAtion oconomy a big 
boost at this time, as other lRnd-owning groups wore not slow 
to follow thoir exarrple. 

i 
I 

Thus the establishmont of that small coffee plo t at 
Kami in 1944 can be : seen as a very signific3nt event in the 
history of Gorokn, ~ nd nlthough the Kami people mGy not havo 
contributed much lnnd to the town, i~directly they contributed 
a great deal to its ~ commercial growth. 

' 

FANIUFA 

l 
I 
I 

! 
I 
I 

Faniufa d ~ d not come to the notice of the outside 
world until the tra~ic . Christmas of 1972, wh~n Bougainville i senior public serva~ts, Dr. Luke Rovin and mr. Peter fYioino, 
wore killed by Faniufa villc.gors, following the death of n 
Faniufn . child in a rand accident. When public horror And revulsion 

1. T.J. l.o8be8t Gr : No. 2 of t~R/119. RGpo rt o f Census P2.t:t:o l to vi ll :=~ g C! s in i m rn G d i 8 to vicini t y of G 0 R 0 I< 1\ , march , 1 1J 4 9 • 
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\ over the killings ~ad subsided it was realised that the Faniufa people had \ been a quite unremarkable, law-abiding Goroka community, ~ ho in the early days of contact had shown ! 
the sam e willingne ~ s to accept the new order as their tribal kinsmen, Soigu and Knmi. It would be convenient to be a bl o to show a p nttern ~f violent and irresponsible behaviou r sin co I the early days of European influence, but there is no t t ho l o[tst I 

evidence on which lo base such a contention. 

I 
Their reQeption of the first Europ8ans wns j ust t he I same as that of the other Goroka tribes. The y t h ink th a t J im \ 

Ta ylor was the fir ~ t white man they saw, but concede thnt it j could have been so~eone el s e. Their 'first-contact' story is not unli Ke that lof Okiufa. When 'Jim Taylor' appoared from the direction of B~na Bena, the three groups, Faniufn, V-arni and Soigu, escorte ~ him up to mt. Sitani and from there they called across to O ~ iufp and Asariuf a "Come and see this strange thing. Let him wa ~ k through your ground. 11 They wore convinced l he was a spirit, pr;obably nn evil one, and we re quite glRd to ha ve hi rn off their \11 and s ! 
1 · 

I 
I 

The Faniuif n informant, Osiso Negi recalls that · 'Taylor' had not be~ n gone long before tribal fighting broke l out, and Faniufa, Kr mi and Seigu were . attacked by mohawato, Napamagono end Aruf~ on the Bena side, and Kama, Asariuf a and G8fuku on the other j flank. Unable to withstand this onslaught, they all ran away tp seek shelter with their friends at Asar o . I 
l 

Osiso has l no recollection of a kiap intervening to bring them back and }he t hinks it was just a cnse of the Cnfukus \ c-md their allies ha ~ ing o change of heart and s a ying, "Corne b a c k an d s t F\ y uJi t h ~ s • " P r o b n b 1 y C r o f t d i d n o t h a v o o n y d i r e c t i derJlings with Fnniu ~ a (he only montions Seigu ) 9 nnd he does stote in - hi s Report lthet they ha d t:mc::.tde peaco UJ ith those former ( 

enemies'', {mplying tihnt o sottlem ont had boan re nch od hcfore he I appeared on tho scene. Howevor, he does soom to bo the principal I instigator of tho successful re-settlemont of Seigu, and 

1. Inform otion from mr. Osiso Negi , a FAni u f ~ i nfor man t wh o claims he wos a boy of a bo u t 12 whe n J i m Toy l o r orriv od in 1933. InterviewGd 3t Faniufa, 10 th Sept ember, 197 3 . 
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) 
Faniufa probably foll~ wed in Seigu's wake, . 

Hanimo, the\ F aniuf a luluai who received £120 for 
Faniufa's share of thb tr wn land in 1948, had beon a big fight I 

leader in pre-contac t! times, and was made a luluai before the 
War. 1 • In march, 1943, the United States Army decided to construct I an airstrip suitable for Fighter and medium Bomb ers at Coroka, 
on ground which belonb ed in part to Faniufa. Hanimo did not 
oppose this compulsor ~ acquisition. A.N.G.A.U. had suggested 
to the Americans tha t l they might use the Highland Valleys a s 
a springboard for the j recapture of the markham, Lae and Finschhafen 
areas. 2

• The America Ms were interested in the propos a l, and on 
the 29th June, constr Lction of the new airfield at Goroka was 
begun under the direc ~ ion of Major Homer Trimble. As it happ ened, I 

the ffiorobe offensive b f October, 1943, was conducted by sea and I air attack on the Japanese, and Coroka was not used in the 

I 
campaign. 

The 1000 local and Chimbu labourers who worked on t he 
strip could not have ~ ealised, any more th a n did the Americ a n 
and Australian engine ~ rs and support personnel who employed 
them, that this 6000 1cot aerodrome was going to change the whole 
history of Goroka. W~ en L.G.R. Kyngdon estRblished a permanently­
manned station at Hum~laveka on October 12th, 19 41, he was not 
impressed with the si l e as a place of perm a nent settlement. 
"I am sure I regarded it as native land and reg a rded t he Administrat·· I 
ion's use as only temporary. I did not feel it was the best 
ptace for a permanent Jstation. 113 ' The construction of the new 
aerodrome changed the situation and in later ch a pters of t his 
study it will be shown how its' existence helped to decide Goroka's 
future as a major Adm ~nistration centre. However, that is 
getting ahead of the story somewhat. The point of interest here 
is that Faniufa owned lthe ·southern or l ower end of this airstrip I 

and the Faniufa peopl ~ joined with their traditional enemy ! Kama and other local g·lroups in helping to build it. All the 
labour was done by hand and according to war · historian David 

! 

1. Informati on from Os isG Ne gi and confirm e d by Ha ni mo wh en int brvi owed o~ 13th S8ptembur, 1973. 
2. Information from ffir. Jim Ta ylor, 25th Jun e , 1973. 

3. L.G.R. Kyngdon: op. cit. 

I, 
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L u l u a i H a.n i m o o f j F a n i u fa • 

I 
I I . 

l 

I 
I 

Luluai Copie of Kama wit h the 
author's son, Pa ul, September 

1973. 

Copi e , in formal dre ss for his 
photograph, standing o u tside his 
bri ck house at Sipik e ha mlet . 

(Photos by t h e author) 
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I 
I 

l 
. ! 

Dexter i t was l completed in seven days - the whol e 6000 feet o f 
i~, plus dispersal bays~ 1 • Today, exactly t h irty ye a r s later, 
the main runway is only 4,600 feet long. 2 • 

I 

Fan ~ ufa informant Osiso rec a lls that he cut the 
grass with a ~ arif, and wa s paid in salt and shell mon e y. 
In some places the American engineers used small C~ark bull­
dozers, but the large la bour force available an d the open 
kunai-covered ~ terrain, made such e quipm e nt unnec e s sa ry here. 3 • 

I 
j 

Ever since the first aeroplane landed on t he ne w 
airstrip in 1943, Faniufa has lived with the no i se of low flying 
aircraft. The village is j ust a few hundred yards eas t of the 
fligh t -path of incoming and departing 
with Osiso was punctuated by the roar 
Twin Otters a ~ d noisy little Cessnas. 
bombers attacked Goroka for the first 

I 

planes, and the i nterview 
of Fokkers, D.C.3's, 

When Japanese 'Betty' 
time on 14 th Jun e , 1943, 4 • 

and fighters set fire to kunai stores and houses, Os is o ran ( 
to the nearest creek and hid for the rest of the da y. Now t 
the only effect of aircraft on him is to ma ke him pa use in l 
conversation. ! He has developed a high level of tolerance to I 

this noise nu t sance, He seems to have adjust ~ d 
fully to constant ~ ir craft movement ".v,_rh LJ .... d . 

~ u .i t ~... s lJ c c crs-s -. t 

During the period of regular A.N.G.A.U. Pa t rols from 
1946 to 191+6, IFaniufa was visited fairly frequently alon g with 
Kami and Seig 1

• In January, 1945, H. Armitstead conducted a . 5 census of Fanlufa and recorded a population of 84. • In all I 

of his Reports which mention Faniufa, he notes the willing 
I 
\ 
I 
j 
i 
I 

I 
1 • D a v i d De x t e r : 11 T h e ~J e w G u i n e a 0 f fen s i v e s 11 ( A u s t r a l i a n War memorial, Canberra, 1961) p.243. 

2. However, this is sealed tarmac, not the rough gr ~ ssy surface which existed in 1943. 

3. Information from General Bernard 'R o bbie' Ro bi nso n , wh o was an engineer with the United States 6th Arm y in Ne w G u i n e a , 1 9 4 2-4 3 • I n t e r v i e WI . . _, ± ·co r o k a , 2 7 t h J u n 8 , 1 9 7 2 . 
4. David Dexter: Op. Cit. p.239 

5 • H • A r m i t s t f3 a d , P a t r o 1 r~ o p o r t [\! o ·• 1 9 o f L1 L1 / 1.1 5 , o p • c i t . 

-·-- ---·----- - - -- ----------
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I 
co-operation of the people, and, in fact, nowhere in the · I I A~N.G.A.U. files are there any unfavourable reports on this 
clan's behaviour. They seem to have quietly accepted the new 

I 

order and as calmly acquiesced in the alienation of part of 
their land fo~ the new airstrip. When P.O. Tom Leabeator 
conducted a crnsus patrol of the area in march, 1 9 49, he somswha 
grudgingly admitted thait. "being close to Sub-District head­
quarters, the ~ places visited have easy accoes to 8dministrative 

I bodies and are comparatively well-bohavBd citiz. e ns . n1. 

KAmA I 

l 
The iKama people have a history of strength in 

adversity, and they seem to have firmly withstood the attacks 
of enemies wh~n the resistance of their neighbours crumbled I 

under similar !pressure. Although they had no friendship 
I ties with Faniufa, Kami nnd Seigu, they shared 8 common enemy, ' I 

Gahuku, and w1' en their threEJ neighbours fled before the onslaugh · , 
,I Kama stood firm. They were in a better position than the others. 

because their !extensive tribal lands stretched from Coroka 
down to the A9aro River, and they only had to face the enemy 
on one front. i If Cahuku or Ufeto pressed them from the north, 

I they had plen ~y of territory to fall back on in the south. 
But when S e ig ~ and its' allied clans experienced the same 
threat they w ~re trapped, because they had enemies on the Bena 
side as UJell. \ 

I 
l 

Jim ~ aylor notes in his Diary of the 1933 mt. Hagen 
patrol, that on the first day out from their camp at Bena Bena, 
while followin~ a track upstream along the Garfuku (Asaro River) i 
f 1 at s , 11 we pas f e d t h rough some o f t h e I< arm a p eo p l e , who h a d 
come from further up the river snd were making a new settlement 
1. n t h 1. · s v 1. c 1. n 1. L y • " 2 • I t · t 1 · f t h · t -l 

· ~ 1s no c ear 1 1s represen 08 a 

1 • T.J. LeebeGter: Pa trol Report No. 2 of 46/49, op. cit. 

2. J.L. Tayl o r: mt. l-l8 g e n P0tro l Report, 193 3~ Potrol Disry entry, 28th rne rc h , 19 3 3. 
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withdrawal from thG nort hern 'zono of conflict' or was simply 
a ·.m i g rat i o n i n i s e a r c h o f n e w g a r don 1 an d • I t was n o t u s u a 1 I 

for trib e s to ~ et t le on·river flats, where adequate defences l 

against surp ri~o attacks would be virtually non-existent. 
Only a group w~th extreme confidence in its' stren g th a nd 
defence capability would ba bold enough to make 2 settlement 
in such opon terrain. It can bo impli e d, thGrefore , that I 

t. h e T 2 y 1 o r-L e E1 h y p a r t y we r e w i t n e s s e s to a !( a m s. ex p 3 n s i o n ~ 
not a re treat . , 

\ 
Furt er evidence of Kama's invulnerability is given 

by Read, 1 • who ! implies that at the time of Nngamiclzuh8' s l 
eclipse, whe n ~hey wero crushed by Kefamo and Ufeto, the 
borders of Kam~, or Gama, were not disturbed. Those attecks 
on Nagamidzuha occurred some time before the a dv ent of Europeens. l 

I 
The Knrna deservod their relatively undistur bo d I 

existence. Th ~ir diplomatic strntegy could hardly be faultod, 2 • 
To the cast an~ south east they had weakened enGmios F·a niufa, . 
~<e.mi and Seigu~ who presented no t h reat to them. Nagn.midzuha, 
an a lly; provi bed a buffor zon e between them and Ufoto, a r 
deadly enemy. l And on tho other side of Ufeto wore a string I 

of Kama allies! Lapeigu, Asaro and Kabi uf A, who could be relied 
upon to keep Uteto occupied for most of tho l t . 3 • A . f 1mo. sar1u a, 
a next-door enffimy, presented a more serious throGt , p2rticularly I 

with the backi 1 g of its allies Okiufn and Gafuku. However , 
Asariufa found .sufficient s3tisfnction in l1arassing Seigu, ; and genorally left Kama alone. Asariufa men do claim that at 
one period bef : re Europ ean cont2ct, Kama triod to resist the ir 
southward exparlsion across th8 Zokizoi River, and wore routed. 
Asariufa estab~ished the settlomont of Sogoropagihura , and have 
hold this lR.nd .ever sincG. However, no further oxponsion into I Kama territory ;occwrred, alt hou gh 8S recently as 1969, tho two 
groups were st ~ ll quarrelling over this Tr a ns-Zokizoi oreG. 4 · I 

1 • K.E. Read: The High Valley, p.35 

2. List of K2ma's fri ends and enemies supplied by Dr. Fritz von Fleckenstein, July, 1973. 

3 • S e e C • R • C r o f t ' s 1 9 3 7 P n t r o l R o p o r t , IYl • 3 7 / 3 8 c n ::; k i r 111 i r ) h F.' s betweon Ufeto and Asaro 

L1 , Soo "Tr n n s -Zokizoi Lr.:1 nd Dispute He nr.i.nq , 1CJ(JCJ 11 ~ CClmnd r-; s.il·,n r'ilo•:, Cu rrJk 8 . 
-~~~~~~------------------~------

\
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I 

Kama trir:!d to 'counter-balance the . threat from Asariuf<3 by • I 

estnblishing ~n alliance with the mountnin men 9 l<ortuni and 
Kaveve, who wore strategically pl~ced to monaco the Asariufa-i -
Okiufa-Gahuku \Rlliance 1 s eastern fl<3nk. War games nnd strategy 
:::~ m on g t h o G 8 h u[k u t r i b e s c o u 1 d b e f u n ! I< am a c 8 r t a i n 1 y s e ems 
to have thrivdd on diplomacy. 

When John Black, returning from a Chimbu p8tr c l 9 

passod throug ~ the Asaro in October, 1934, he encounter e d the 
i U f e to , a rn on g w;h om h 8 c 8. m p 8 d o v ern i g h t on tho 2nd , an d the I< 2m A , 

whose lands h ~ traversed on the 3rd, The fact that ho singles 
j 1 out these two ~rou ps for mention in his Report, • would suggest I 

that they were:/ large and well-est'3blished. It also happf;ned thai 
their territorf es lay ncross his path to Bona Be na, but so also 
did the bounda~ies of Kefamo, Nagamidzuha , Faniufa, Kami and I 
Seigu, none of whom are mentioned. 

l 
I I 

I . 
i 

I< n m 3!' s ex i s t G n c e i s no ted by f.'l i t chi son in hi s 1 9 3 7 
Report . 2 • He 1states that th ere was a timatter between K.Afrlf\ and 
GP.FUKA ·vi ll EJge~ adjusted. 11 The trouble was speedily settled, 
because it is hot mentioned in lator Patrol Reports. It must I . 

I •' 
! 

have been soon j after 1937 that f<ama luluRi, GOPIE, suporvised 
his people in ~ he cutting of a bridlo path for the kiRps, 

: . 3. through Kama t8rrltory. 

I 
Durirg the War, Kama me n were involved in tho construct 

ion of th·o nGw : airfield, and thoro was <J n t=wt.i-aircrn.ft gun I 

emplacoment Rt j Taitomeka, one of the Kama sottlement s .· most 
o f t h e c e n t r a l 1 p o r t i o n o f t h e a i r s t r i p b e l o n g e d to I< mn a an d 
the majority o~ the American soldiers involved in the work 
camped on KamR I land. 4 " One witness at the Tran s-Zokizoi Lan d 
Dispute hearin ~, Arinaso Taro of Kapogui , st8ted that during 

1 • 

2. 

3. 

Patrol Report 8.16/34-35, op.cit. 

T.G. Aitctilison: 
1937. 

Patrol Report m. 37/38, July-August, 

T r 8 n 5 -- Z o k i z o i L an d D i s p u t e H ear i n g : Evidenc8 giv on by Soso Subi of Asariufa. 

~~ • r' . L • N i a ll , p o r 5 o n a l c o m m u n i c a t i o n , 1 9 t h J u .l y , 1 9 7 ? • 

~ 
'· 
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the War he 11 ass.isted an American soldier named STACI< when ho 
s~rveyed the big airfield.'' Arinaso further recalled that I 

\ 
11 during the War about seven 8 n t i-aircraft 

guns were sited around th e big airstrip. 1 

Ono of th e se was at TAITOmEKA in the vicinity of the present sit e of GOPIE's hAmlet a t 
CE H A ~ O-ZUHA. This gun-pit was in the 
kunsi, there were no houses anywhere near 
it. · I remem~ e r this a s I used tc yisit 
the ; gun crews with Captain STACK. 11 

• 

A census of Kama was taken by Lieutenant H. Armitstead r 

in _October, 1945, and he found that there was a total population 
8f 502, consisting of 321 adults and 181 children. Kema was • I 

by far the largest of the groups counted, its' 502 members 
exceeding Kami's 319, Seigu's 176, or raniufa's 84. It is I 

interesting t~at in all theso villages, the womon outnumbered 
the men (175 ~omen to 146 men 2t Ka ma, 124 Kami women to 99 
men), but that male childron 8utnumbered femal e s (10 ~ Kama 
boys to 77 gitls, 52 Kami boys to 44 girls). Wns natur e 
perhaps comp e ns a ting for the loss of males? It mu s t bo remember I 
that during J ~ nuary, 1945, Armitst e ad recruited 194 ·men from 
the area for work at the Aiyura Agricultural Exporimental 
Station, whic~ explains the dearth of adult mal e s in t he village . 
but the excoss of boys over girls is not so easy to oxplain. 
\Uas there in ~ act a higher malo birth rate in traditional i 

i 
,I 
I I' 

Highl nnd societies to compensate for the early mortality of 
me n in trib a l [ fighting? 2 • I, 

' Kam~ appears to have boen treated rather generously 
i n t h e 1 9 4 8 l ' i· n d p u r c has e • T h r e e K am a 1 u 1 u a i s , Gop i e , Tar e i p a I 
8nd Apil2uwei; received a tstal payment of £257/10 on b oha lf I 

o f the four K ~ mn clans. This represented an aroa of 51. 5 
hectaros. It )is true that the central section of tho ne w airstr j 
which is know traditionally as Go'novega, belonged to Kama. 
But when the ~ irstrip 1 c2ke' is cut up botwoen Fo. niufa, l<oma, 
Seigu (and po~sibly Kami), it is difficult to see how K8m n I 

1 • 

2. 

I 

Trans-Zokizoi Land Dispute Hearing: 
by Soso Subi of Asnri ufn. 

Evid e nc e gi vor1 

Th i s qLtes ti 8 n 
pre s ent study 

i s s o rn ow h 0 t o u t s i d G t h e s c o p o o f t 1-) o II t. 
but is rnis e d a s a mn tt 8 r of g un o r n l in to r e st. ll'' · 

- ......,. .._ ~ ... .~. : 
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9ould have been credited with so large a slice. 
I 

Assuming that the total D.C.A. area in 1948 was about , 
100 hectares (it was extended by a further purchase from Faniufc 
in 1951), Kama's large share of the total does seem excessive. 
However, there are several possible explanations. I 

into 

well 

been 

1 

I 

0 n e' r sa son co u 1 d be that the Admin is t ration took I 

consider~ tion the s~ze of each land-owning group as 
as the aptual area of land purchased. It has already 
noted th~ t Kama was a large group, which, by 1949 probably 1 

had a populat~on in excess of 500. A sum of, say, £120, 
which was wha~ Faniufa received, would not have gone far among 

~ 

so many. Butl £257.10.0 could have at least provided a 10 
shilling note, for everyone. Gopie stated recently that a generc: l 

distribution ~as made: 

"When we got this money, I sang out to all 
the . people in my line to get together and 
we ~ ad a mumu and we shared all the money 
out. This was for all of the zuha - All 
fout of them. The other two men who 
received money for Kama were there too, I 

and \ we all three shared out the money. 

"We ~ut it all together ,(257.10.0. It 
is not a lot of money for all this land. 
I sold my land for nothing. It arnounted 
to f3bo ut £1 per 9erson and some got ten 
shi~lings only." • 

It ~ight be implied from Gopie's statement that the 
Kama people were not pleased with the amount they received, 

I 

but it must b~ realised that he· is giving a retrospective view. 
The Kama peopie had no hesitation in parting with e further 
108.5 hectare~ 2 • at J2.1D.O per hectare in 1950. 3 • The 
area was purc~ased for a Livestock and Food Crop Experimental 
Station and w~s therefore considered less valuable than the 

1. Luluai Gopie of Sipike haus-line, interviewed by Dr. Fritz von Fleckenstein, 27th July, 1973, and by myself on 13th September, 1973. 

2. It was later found that the me asurements were wrong, and the area was actually 94.4 hectare s . 

3. ' Kgm a ' Le1nd Purchase FilG, District Office, C o rok c~ . 
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I 
I land set aside !for town and airstrip purposes. Today, it is the highly dev ~loped suburban area known as West Coroka , and Copie's feeling that he has somehow been cheated is understandabl j l But if the Kamq people had resented the amount paid for Co'nevega in 1948, they would not have been prepared to sell another 94.4 hJ ctares for half the price in 19 50 . 
\ 
! 

A se~ond reason for Kama's favourable treatment in l 1948 could hav~ been that the Administration hod en eyo to I the future. 11 I,f we give them a large amount of rnonoy now,' ; I 

it may have been reasoned, "they will be prepared to sell more I in the future" . l If this was their plan, it certainly produced t the desired effect. 

Yet a third possible explanation was provided by Hanimo, the old , ex-luluai of Faniufa. He claims that Kama tried to convince the [ kiap that they owned all of the airstrip from I its' top end, near the Council Chambers, right down to the bottom end, nea ~ Faniufa village. 
l 

" T h e y t r i e d to come as f a r as .our p 1 a c e b u t w o told tnem to clear
1
off, and they went back 8S far as ! the garage. • But they convincEd the kiap ~hat they owned more land than they renlly did." 

Another point that needs to be mad8 about the airstrip purchase was that a re-survey 3 • of P?rt of the proposed township area was made in 1951, and some of the 1948 measurements were I found to be in error. In a very detailed report by Cadet Patro l l 
Officer John McArthur, dated 22nd August, 1951, he ndvised that 

1 • 

2. 

I 

I 
\ "during· the period August 9th to August 20th I carriBd out a re-traverse of portion of the t ~wn boundarios, and interviewed the p r e v i o ·u s o w n e r s o f t h e a r e as co n c ern e d • " 

Goroka Motors Service Station on the Highlands Highway in West Coroke. (not in use at present). 
Interview with Hanimo at Faniufa on 13th September, 1973 . He was not present on 10th September when I intervi e wed Dsiso. 

! 

I:, 

I , 
!1 . 

::- (; - ~ :- 2 '. r:: ~ :: e ; :: :. ::. :: : - -: _ :::- ·. :.: / • j' '

1

• 
[ ' r ~ }·' ~ : .: C ,... : ~; [.4 ' ~ '..J : ' ~ . - - ::: - · _ r· ;: ,.. - · - .~ · ~ ... - - ,.. -: · !....., _____________ _... ....................... - _.. ..... _ _ ~ .... _~--~o;w~ ........... :~~ .. ~: ......... , ..... .-.... ~......... . ,' 

3 .. :. t r i c t l ·1 
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macarthur ftiu~d, among other things, that 
\ 
I 

" T h e , de s c r i p t i on a n d s k e t c h c om p i 1 e d i n 1 9 t~ 8 places the distance betw een the south-west and lthe south-east corners of GORO KA town . { 

as ~27 metres, Th8 di stan ce 1as I have e s t i im at e d i t i s 3 8 0 m e t r e s • " • I . 
i Obviously the \1948 messurement would have giv en the airstrip a 

much greater ~rea than actually existed. The skGtch map to whic~ 
John mcArthur k efers does, in fact, show th e air s trip to be 
much bigger th~ n the same portion of it which appears on 
present-day ma~ s. On the original map it is about two fifths I 

of the total town area. On the amended maps it is only about I 

one quarter of' the total arsa. Consequontly all the l an d owners receiv ~ d more ~o ney than they were entitled to, and Kama seems to have been t Teated ovon more genero usl y than the oth e rs. 

As mpntioned earlier, there are four Kama cl a ns, a nd 
all received a ; share of the money, although only two clans were represented on \ the Transfer Documont. Gopie was the luluai of 
Gehamozuha and l Tareipa and Apilauwei represented Zagomszuha. I 
The investigat ~ng officer, William Sippo, must have been somGwhat .i confused by th ks legation of luluais (end who could blame him?) 

1 
f 

because he OW3fded Apilauwei £100 and Tareipa !57.10.0, when 
both of them r~presented the same clan. The othGr two Ks ma clans Gepahina und G ~ meguveh, missed out altogether, but the three 
luluais included them in the general distribution, I as a demonstra · 1 

~ 
ion of tribal ~ olidarity. l 

r 
I 

r 

As for tho errors in meas urement, it must bo remembered ! 
that patrol officers were not trained surveyors, and mistakes in 
boundary marki~g and calculation of land are2s are understandable, I As late as 1954 the District Commissioners were still pleading l 

for licensed s~rveydrs and the Secr e tar y for Lands, E.P. Holmes, 
2 con c e de d t h at t h e r e was a " p res en t dear t h o f s u r v e yo r s • ,, • I 

I 
! 

1. J. mcArthur, C.P.O.: Report to District Commissioner, Gorok a , on Boundaries of U.A.L. 5 (township of Goroka), 22nd August, 1951. File Ref. 34/L~ /1. ('Kama' Land Purchase File, District Office, Gorokn.) 

2. E.P. Holmes: 
Commission e rs' 
NatiiJ G Lends. 

Followin g ~ ddre ss dGlivar e d at District ConfGrGn ce , 1952: Item 44 , Purch ase o f 
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The las~ group in this clockwise traverse of the I Goroka town boundary is Asariufa, ~pelt variously as Aserufa i (A itch is on) , As o r :a u fa (Croft) , Asaro d z u h a ( Read) and i\ sa roy u fa I 

(Orken). The Asak iufa people recognise a common 0ncestry with I 
Okiufa, and relat~ ons between the two groups have generally 
been cordial, alt~ ough there is some overlapping of boundary 
claims in the Humt laveka area. . 

A recen
1 

interview with an Asariufa man, Ai -a e of 
I Koroka, revealed r n interesting 1 tumbuna'story which links the 

two groups. 

"Some of our people believe our ancestors lived in the mountains behind 1 Airpos 1 • They were naked and they used to walk out hunting in groups through the kunai ~own near the District Office. They 
caught mam~ots 1 • and birds. These were oaten raw as soon c.s ! the blood dried in the sun. Our ancestors liv£d righ t up in the mountains. Later they came down to 'A ~ rpos' and then finally across hore to Asariufu.. j 

11 Two white men were the leaders . They said, HAll the lhdies line up and sleep in a row." 
Then all the men got into this sex business. Whntever these two whit e men said, it happened. One of the ' le qders ' names was Safi. The other one I can't remember. The Okiufa men will know. They can show us where these two men were buried. When Europ~ans came, we thought t~ey were these white ancestors returning to us." • 

I 
i 

As has ~lready been noted, relations botweon Asariufa ~ 

and Kama were strained, even though there is some evirlonce I 
that Kama poople also came from the 'Airpos' direction. 3 • In 
the Trans-Zokizoi )Land Dispute heard by Senior Land Ti t les 
Commissioner max $rken in 1969, claims and counter-claims were 

I 

made by the two t r ibes concerning their pre-contact spheres 
I 
l 

1. A mammot is a small marsupial· like a bandicoot. 

2. Ai-ae of Koroka, interviewed at Kcroka village 7th August, 1973. When Ai-ae 1 s story was checked with Papazo of Okiufa he said that he did not know anything ab out these two white ance'3tors. 

3. Inform:1tion from Gopie of Sipiko , intervieUJed . at his house on 13th SeptGmber, 1973. 

i . 
.I 
I ''i 
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\ 
\ 

\ 
of influence. The; Commissioner recorded that 

' 
"Many of the witnesses wore old men in whoso me~ories there was still a vivid recollection of the old days of tribal fighting , and animosities. Ancient grudges were brought up, many long rambling irrelevancies 
were introduced, and over the whole Hearing lay a feeling of tans~on which ·culminated in ••• a \brawl ••••• 11 

• I 

The Kama witnesses claimed that at the time of initial European contact, the Asari ~fa lived to the north of the Zokizoi River, on the terrace wher~ Koroka village is situated. As was noted 
I previously, Asariufa made the counter-claim, that by the time of European contactl they had extended their influence south of 
l the Zokizoi at Kama s expense. Certainly, by 1948, their domain 

extended from Koroka as far south as the present market. It would seem likely t ? at tho movement south from 1 Airpos 1 was begun 
by Kama several generations before the time of first contact, 

I and that at about the time of first contact Asariuf~, possibly 
I because of populntidn pressure, rather than because of a quarrel 
I with Okiufa, ' also b~gan to move south. I 
I 
I 0 n 2 0 t h J u11 y , 1 9 3 7 , A i t c h i son to o k a c en s u s o f t h e "village of ASARUFA" \. 2 • He had noted in his Patrol Diary ~n the 18th, when he papsed through Asariufa on his way to the Gafuku Police Post that "Natives a little nervous but brought an abundance of food ." "Asernufa" was one of the groups assembled 

by Croft on the 2nd November, 1937, I when "various matters were '7 
adjusted and discussions were held . "J . 

\ 
I During 194~, the lives of the Asariufa people were seriously disrupted ~nd they possibly experienced more of an upheaval than the ot ~er groups. It so happened th a t the terrAce on which Koroka villa:ge 
l 

is situated was suitable for tunnol~ing, 

1 • 

2. 

3. 

\ 
l 

! 
\ 

m.B. Orken: Trans-Zokizoi Land Dispute - Reasons for 
Decision, paragraph 17. 
T.G. Aitchison: Patrol Report m 37/38, K8inantu Fil e . C.R. Croft: Pat r o 1 Report m 3 7 • 3 8 , dated 1 7 • 11 -3 7 , I< :1 in :-1 n t u 
File. 

~---------· ·-· ---··-
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. i 

and the whole popl lation was shifted from the area so that . l a~r-raid shelters 1and underground stores could be constructed. A cover of casuar~na trees also made Koroka an Rttractive 
site . as a store a i d shelter area for the troops. Some 
trees and bamboos 1were cut down and the material used to 
line the tunnels. \ On the Zokizoi River 1 • flats below the 
Koroka terrace, a rl other section of Asariufa land was compul-t 

sorily acquired fqr a Police Barracks. This area is known as Lobiloveka. ) 

Koroka ~ nformant Ai-ae describes this period as 
a 'no good time'. He himself W8S conscripted to carry cargo 
on the traFk to F~ita, an American base on the Ramu River I 
below Bundi, and he recalls that some of his friends in the I c argo line died arid their bodies were buried near the river. This is not surpr ~sing as the village population near Faite was practically w ~ped out by dysentery in 1943 or 1944. 
When Warrant Offi ~er B. Wickham visited Faita in November, 1944, r he r e p o r t e d_ t h a t "

1
t he v i 11 a g e p o p u l a t i on h a s b e e n r e d u c e d b y 

an epidemic of dyse ntery to six mal es , five females and three 
children. 112

• I 

Ai-ae reballs that on another occasion Captain 
John Black, 3 • inte kvened on the Asariufa people's behalf 
when the local pol ~ ce at Lobiloveka exceeded their authority and treated the vi t lagers particularly harshly over a potty 
misdemeanor. Ai-a~ remembers that at the time John Black 
had let his hair gt ow long. 

When Jap nese aeroplanes attacked the new airstrip, Asariufa people were terrified, and the big anti-aircraft 
guns mounted on Hu ilaveka, mt. Sitani and at Kama, were . also a source of f~ar to them. Ai-ae, the old campaign e r, 
has his supply of ar stories, just like any other war veteran. 

1. Technically, this is mumoka Creek 1 the northern tributary of the Zokizoi. 

2. 

3. 

B. Wickham: Patrol Report dated 6th Decemb e r, 1944. Kundiawa File, 1940-19 50 , Nati ona l Archives, Port moresby. 
John Black tuas in chorge of A.N.G.A.U. ope rr1tions e1 t Be na Bona and Goroka for a p ~ riod in 1942-43, and was 21/C to Jim T Cl y lor 8 t Go r o k 8 in 1 9 1J 4 , fl f tf:; r tho t ro n p s h 8 d w i U : d r WJirl f r Cl m t-. h R ~ r .1 ;1 _ 
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I 
I His best one is about a Japanese fighter damaged by the gun . I on Humilaveka, which finally crashed fur~her up the Asaro valley at Kwongi, I but not before the pilot had jumped out of the cockpit in o another plane! 
l 
! 

This di ~ ruption to Asariufa's village life probably explains an incid ~ nt which occurred in February 1945, when A.N.G.A.U. office t s were attempting to iestore the people's confidence and in Troduce a cash economy. Warrant Offic e r N.m. Bird visited \the villag es around the District Office, Garoka - "Geifamo J Asaraufa, Kama and Okoufa" - and reported l that "with two exceptions, villages lined for census when l called upon. The \exceptions were ASARAUFA and the village LILIHAffiiNTOKA. 1 • !These showed no desire to co-operate, but were finally indu ~ed (sic) to line and census was compiled. 112 • It can be inferre ~ that at this stage the Asariufa people had had about as ~uch as they were prepared to take from the authorities. It i~ instructive that they are the only people who actively oppos~ d the Administration after the War experiences. This can b& direct~ y related to the fact that they were the only group who wer~ actually moved off their place of residenc e by the soldiers. f ll the other groups were able to retain their village comm vnities, and were not much inconvenienced by the occupation ~ f their garden or hunting grounds. ' I 
I 

Asariufa1s unfortunate wartime experiences wore to have a direct infl J ence on the shape of the town boundary ! which was drawn in \1948. Today's map of the town shows a I large area of nati ~ e-owned land between the Highlands Highway and the western to J n boundary. This ground is jealously I guarded and mainta~ned by the Asariufa owners, although from I a town-planner's pd int of view it is prime urban land. mr. William Sippo recaljls that the administration was keen to include the area wi~ hin the town boundary in the 194~ purchase, 

1. This is probably the Asariufa settlement known tod a y as Galamunitoka, which is on the banks of tho Zokiz oi not far from Lobiloveka. 

2. N.m. Bird: Pa tr o l Roport No. 21 of ~~/4 5 , dat e d 27th F e b r u a r y , 1 9 !.1 5 • G o r o k u P 8 t r o 1 f~ e p o r t . s , 1944-45, National Archives, Port ffior e~b y. 

I~ il''l! '' · 'I 
'. \ 
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but "we would have \had a war on our hands if we had tried to for~e the issue lu1 • The Asariufa people were determined that they would no be pushed around any more. Actually the amount of land whi ~h they did sell to the Administration, 40 hectares, was quite genercus. Their total land nrea, surrounded as it is by Okiufa,
1 Nagamidzuha and Kama, is not large when compared with the ~xtensive lands of the other three group~. i 

. 
( 

The two A~ ariufa luluais, Asakohai and Venara, r o c e i v e d 1 0 0 o a c h If o r t h i s to w n la n d • A s a k o h a i w a s t h e l u 1 u a i at Koroka, and Vena~ a repr e sentGd the southern settlement of Sogerepagihura. Ac~ording to Ai-ae, everyone got a share of the money, At firs~ the people were suspicious of the paper J 

money offered to them, preferring shells, and some even tried I to smoke the pound rates. However, the majority recognised the value of the money, 2nd bought axes, knives, beads and lap lap material at i the trade stores. It was about this 1 time that mr. Jim L$ahy opened a trade store near the big airstrip, 2 • and the be was also a small store at the Government l Station near · Humila yeka. 

Mr. Soso 1ubi, a prominent Asariufa leader, claims today that Asariufa is south-western boundary extended across to the centre of toJn (Steamship's main store) and down to I Leigh Vial Street in West Goroka. 3 • As already noted in tho section on Seigu, t is claim was not recognised on 1948. However, the easter ~ boundary, which went up from the Council i C ham b e r t h r o u g h t h e IN a t i o n a l D a y Par k to t h e o l d H o s p i t a l , i s ! not disputed. In No~ th Goroka there are only minor over-lapping claims with their 0 kliu fa neighbours. According to So so I the boundary line wer t from the old Hospital across the Zokizoi 

1. William G. Sippo, interviewed at Port moresby, 14th August, 1973. 

2. Jim Leahy applied for a trading licence on 26th June, 1948. His store was situated 'on that piece of l2nd on tho Western side of and adjoining the Government Rest House at SITANEI, Goroka. 1 File 34/2/1-13, District Office, Goroka. Sergeant Ubom cl a ims to have conducted a smal l store for his native police at Humilavek n o n the north side of the airstrip, no2 r where the m8nua l Arts building is n o w ~ i t u a t G d • ( I n f o r m o. t i o n f r o m S g t • U b o m , 1 8 t h 0 c t o b c r , ·1 9 7 ~2 • ) 
mr. Soso StJbi, int c r\li ewGd ·at his home on 2n d Au g tJ s t, 1973 . 

::;m;:i . 

: ~ 
·I 



District Dff ic~, IYledical Assistant ' s house and Hospital 
at Humilav e ka, 194 7 . Exc a\Jation for a swimming pool on the left, 
airstrip to the right . Pho to taken by fnr.Jim Taylor from his house. \ 

I 

I Close -up view, loo'king ea s t,of the District Office, veran d ah of 
t h e IY1 e d i c a l A s s i sl t. a n t ' s h o u s e an d t h e f o o d s to r e , H u m i l a v e k a , 
c • 1 9 4 8 • P h o t o t \a k e n b y IYl r . N e v i 11 e C o o k • 

m r • J i m L e a h y ' s t r a d e s to r e , Co r o k a , c • 1 9 4 9 • I t s t o o d w h e r e B ·u r n s 
Philp's s up er - mar l tis n ow s i t ua -_ d . An E~ arller store ope ned by 
m r • L e a h y w a s Cl n l ·1 n rJ a c q u i r e d b y D . C . A • ~ a n d i t w a s d e m o l i s h e d . Photo kindly suppl i ed by l'll r . J im Leahy . 
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River to St. m~tthew's Lutheran Church on the north bank, 2nd . I then to the Go~oka Technical School and up the steep slope 
of Humilaveka J errace to the 'Bulolo' house on the TeQchers' I 
College campus. ,1 • It then continued in a westerly direction 
down the less ~teeply graded slope of the terrace to Goroka 
Road Transport ~ ty. Ltd., and across the Highland s Highway I. 
to mr. John Aku~ai's coffee plantation. 

1 

Okiuf~ informants do not concede any pnrt . of the top I 
of Humilaveka t k rrace to Asariufa, but agree that tho western I 
slope belonged to them. One effect of the sale of land to the I 
Administration has been that disputed borders which wore actual or potential caLses of conflict between the tribes have been 
swallowed up by j the town, and are no longer the concern of the j 
local people. yhe fact that Asariufa and Seigu contest their 
former ownership of the 'top' end of the aerodrome is of no I 

consequence tod ? y - it is simply a matter of academic argument ! 2 between the two
1
groups. • Similarly, the rival claims to the 

west end of 
Asariufa and 

Hum1laveka 
i 

Okiufa. 

terrace create no hard feelings between 

I 

I 

GOROKA THE :GROUND OF THE ANCEST OR S 
i 
! 
i 

ffir. s 9so Subi, the prominent Asa riufa businessman already mentioned, was not closely involved in the 19~8 land ! 
sale, but he is jnamed as one of tho vendors in the 1953 purchase of Agesahagu. ~his is a rectangular block of 8.2 acres opposite the old Goroka Hospital. Soso is described on the Contingencies 
Sheet as 'Tultu ~ of Asariufa' The other named owner is Obeso, who is given no ~ itle in the transfer document, but is ~aid 

1 • 

2. 

The house occupied by the author, ' but originally the home of Inspector Bill Burns, the officer in ch a rge of the Goroka Police Training Establishment from 1950 to 1960. 
When int e rviowod on 18th September, 1973, Ha nimo, the Fsniufa luluai, also put in a claim on b,half of hi s · people for this section of tho airstrip. ~G cl 3 ims . that SGigu and Faniufo shnred it betwee n th em . 
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I 1 1 • 1 • by Soso to have ~ een a u ual. 

1 

Obeso's greater claim to fame rests on Soso's belief I 

that it was he wHo suggested the name GOROKA for the town "because it is 
I 

tHe ground of our ancestors. 112. This rais e s I the interesting question of how Goroka received its' name. There I are a variety of \explanations ranging from the claim of one old fYla nus p o 1 iceman 3 ·\ that it me an s "six o ' c 1 o c k in the rn or n in g" to I an interpretatio~ once given to fYlr. Robert Cleland, that Goroka is " the place w h e\r e one w a 1 k s by night • " 4 • 
l 

Soso re~ alls that after the War "there was a competiti on held to cJhoose a r ame for the town and this old luluai Obiso, who lived ne ar th b Zokizoi Creek, said 'Let us call it Gor okn · · t · t I 
f 

oecause 1 ls ho t ground of our ancestors.'" Ai-ae o Koroka more or less confirmed this story, stating that when fYlr. Jim ! Taylor was Distri~t Officer, Central Highl a nds, he held a competi t-ion to decide on a name for the town, and the Asariufa lul ua i s 
I 

suggested Koroka, ~ the name of their parent village. This \ competitioh was held shortly after Jim Taylor took up his position as District Officer on 1st November, 19 46. 5 • Th e name Garoka had b~en in fairly common usage throughoLtt t he Wa r, I and the competitiqn seems to be another example of J im Toy lor's policy of letting !the local peopl o feel that thoy were partners, involved in the d ~cision-making process. When he r oa lised I that Goroka was a ~ore accurate spelling ot tho na me than Garoka, i he wrote to his su~eriors in Port moresby r e questing a change of name: 
I 

I 
\ 

"Authorit V and approval i s sought to change the speliing of GA ROK A to COROKA which is 

\ 

I 
i 

1. Interview witM Soso, 2nd August, 1973 
2. Ibid 

3. Constable Paliu in talk at Goroka Teachers College, June,1972. 4. Personal communication from Mr. R. Cleland, A.D.C. Chuave. 
5. J.L. Taylor: Circular lett e r da ted 1-11-46, t o As si stan t District Officers, Centr a l Highl a nd s Di strict , advising th2t hG had " <Jssu me d control of t he D i s t r i c t 8 n d D i \J i s i o n o n 'J s t ·· · N o v om b c r , 1 g 1.( 6 • 11 File 1/2/1, Di st rict Orfic e , Gc r ok:=-t . 

u\ 
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f 

\ as near correct phonetically as it is possible with our pres8nt system of spelling. l 
"It is 'suggested that it is not too late to make the change ~s the name is not yet in~luded in much published materia~ 

1 and is ; unknown to the outside world •••• 11 
• I 

SergeR~t Ubom wns probably the first person to give ' the name Koroka 9 wider application than its' localised Asnriufa usage. When he ~ stnblished the Police Post at Okiuf s in 1936 or 1937, it was situated on the present site of Okiufa Primary School , which is
1no more than a quarter of a milo from Koroka. I In the days before there were systematic tree and coffee plantings 2nd kunai covered most of the hill slopes, Ubom would h2ve had \ a clear view dowri onto Koroka from his Police Post. I 

i In n talk at Goroka Te3chers College on 18th October, 1972, he spoke a~o ut the naming of Goroka: ( 

I 

i . "When I f1rst came here the ground near where I : lived was cc:dled Humi-Gsrokc:1·. The ~eople priginally cAlled it Humi-Garoka, just as they cAlled this Teachers' College are8 Humi-Lavoka. When I first arrived I found an old mon ond I made him luluoi. I asked · him, 1 !Uh2t is the name nf this place? 1 ~ He replied, 1 This is the ground of my ahcestors and I am the owner of it. The name of the place is Humi-Garoka .' Afterwards the name Garoka became the important one. B~t tho old man never used the word Ge.roka, · only Humi-Garoka." I 
l 

By 1939 1 the name Garoka seems to have come into general use. Evidence fat this is found in a patr o l report written that year by A.D.q. Bill Kyla . He comments on the road situc.tion in the rea, stating that "From Kainantu to Elt=!na Bena, nnd thence to Gar~ka the road is excellent and furthor work is • 
11 2 • I 1n progress. 1 

l 
I 

I 
I 1. J.L. Tnylor tb the Director, Department of District Services and Native Affairs, Port moresbyr 28-~-47. File 1/2/1, District Office, Goroka. 

2. Quoted in a letter from H.L. Dnwning, acting District Officor, rflndang , to tho Officer in Charge, RamtJ, dntod 21 Juno, 1939. Kyle's Report from which Dnwnin g dr e w t h e o x t r n c t s uJ R s No • m • 6 7 o r 1 9 3 8 / :3 CJ • ( I< a i n a n t u 1-- i 1 c , Land Titles Commission Offic e , Gorok2.) 
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In the Allied Geographical Secti on's Terrain Study of the Madang District, da ted 6th August, 1943, theru is a brief description as follows:-

"Caroka~ 

New station. Three hours west from Be na Bcna on the Chimbu track. H~d n Wa rrant Officer of Police in charge, • but wns usually run in conjunction with Bena Bena. 
2 

A smal JJ drome is near the station building.n - • 

Bepi moha claims that when this Humilave~a airstrip wa s constructed during 1940 and 1~41, a number of Asariufa men were e ~ployod, and when someone asked them what was the name of the whole locality, thoy thought he was referring to their own place, so they replied 'Koroka' • 3 • 
i 
I It should not be implied from the fore-going that tho literal meaning of Goroka is 'ground of the ancestors'. Rather , the place Koroka was regarded as ancestral ground, insofgr a s the Asariufa people recognis e d it as the o ri gina l settlement of the ' first Asariufa villagers when they moved 

, I 
across from 'Airp ds '. But in a wi de r sense al l of Go ro kn town land is 'the ground of the a nce s tors', because tho ancestors were believ e d to have hunted over it or ga rd ene d o n it, or in the case of Okiufa and Komiufa, built houses on it. 

Goroka - the ground of the ancestors! Considering that the first Europeans who walked o ver t his ' ground wero be lieved to be the a nc estors of tho Gahuku -G qma tribes, th e choice of name is a happy one, suggesting beth its' p8s t a nd recent history. 
I 

When the ' local people first greet ed tho outsiders with cri es of 'Here com e th o s pirits. Be prepar ed to we lc ome thorn', they hoped these uninvited visitors wcu l d not remain among them for lon~. But th e white men kept coming back, ! 

1. This is no t strictly accur at e, as Patrol Officer L. G.R. 

2. 

3. 

Kyngdon took charge in October, 1941 (s ee secti on o n KBmi) . 
Alli e d Geog r a phical Section, South Wost a cific Ar e2 , TGrra in Study No . 59 . Area Study of Mada ng- Vol um e 1, To xt nnd M2ps, p.24. 6th Augu s t, 19 4 .. 3 . 

11 r~ p i m o h 0 , f i r s t t n 1 k e1 t C n. r rJ k o T o n 1-: h o r e C o 1 1 o g o , 1 6 !: h July, 1973 . 

.· 'i 
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until eventually ths people accepted their prosenco and cAms to depend on them for peace enforcement, for s h2ll and trede goods, for medical attention, and for new kinds of crops. They regarded these Europeans and thoir coastal po licem e n and evangelists with a mixture of awe and curiosity, slowly coming to terms with the new order which the newcomers brought, 

When War came they discovered that ths whito man's world had its lass plcBsant aspscts, but they did not reject it, nevertheless. And when tha timo c2mo that tho white man wanted to settle permanently in their midst, to est8blish an Administrative headquarters and build A town, th e y p8id I him the highest compliment by granting him portion of th e ir most precious possession, land, "the grou:ld o f the a ncesturs'1
• 

********************* 
jli ,,, 



··~ 
;, 
" 

,. 
:~ 
·~ 

·' ~~ 
.>! 

.. ~ 
'· 

;~ 
I 

-62-

BIBLIOGRAPHY FOR CHAPTER ONE 

PUBLISHED WORKS 

ALLIED Geographical Section, South West Pacific Are 3 , Terrain Study No. 59. Area S t ~ dv of madang- Volume 1 , Text and maps, 6th August, 19 43 . (A set of these Terrain Studies is hel~ at the National Archiv 8s , Port moresby.) 

. DEXTER, David: , 
. I 

i 

LANGNESS, Lewis: 
"; 

The New Guinea Offensives (Vol. 6 in Series 1 (Army) of Australia in the War of 1939 - 1945. Australian War memorial, Canberra, 1961.) 

Bena Bena Political Organization in Berndt, R.m. and Lawrence, P: Politics in New Guinea (University of Western Australia Press, 1971). 

LEAHY, m.J. and CRAIN ,m:The Land That Time Forgot (Funk 

READ, K.£.: 

, & Wagnalls Company, New York, 1937) ' . 

Cultures of the Central Highl and~, New Guinea. Reprint from Southwe~t Journal of Anthropology, Vol. 10, No. 1, Spring, 1954. (University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque) 
The High Valley (George Allen a nd Unwin , London, 1965.) 

UNPUBLISHED mATERIAL · 

HOWLETT, Diana: 'A Decade of Change in t he Gorok a Valley, New .GuiQea. (Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation,A.N.U., Canberr G, 1962) 

von FLECKENSTEIN, F.: Information on local groups and notes of interviews with Gopi G of Kama and Aino of Okiufa. 

CONrERENCE REPORTS (roneod): 

Administration and missions Conference, Port mor3sby, may 1947 - record of proceedings. 

District Commissioners' Conference, Port ~ l oresby, 1952 ··· record of proceedings. 

-;,'¥~~------------ . 



'·; 

r. 

-63-

PATROL REPORTS (in chronological order): 
TAYLOR, J.L.: 

BLACK, J.R.: 

\ AITCHISON, T G ~ 

ELLIOTT, N .C~: • \ 
I 

CROFT, ~ .Ro: \ 

KYLE, A.F,(Bill): 

ARrtliTSTEAD, I J. H. L~ .. : 
I 

ARmiTSTEAD, J.H.L.: 
\ 

WICKHAm, B.: 

ARmiTSTtAD, J.H.L.: 

BIRD, N.m~: 

. . ~· 

~ 
I 

ARmiTSTEAD_, J.H.L.: ~ 

\ 

LEABEATER, T.J.: 

Report of the mt. Hagen Patrol, 1933. 
Progress and Patrol Report of Activit­
ies in the Purari Area. 8.16/34-35, 
December, 1934. 

Patrol Report m.37/38, July- August)1937. 
(Kcino.ntu ril-e) .. 

Patrol Report m. 37/38, September, 
1937 (Kainantu File). 

Patrol Report · m. 37/38 (Kainantu File). 
17 November, 1937. 
Patrol Report m. 67 of 1938/39, 
quoted by Acting District Officer 
H.L. Downing, madang, in correspond~ 
ence to the Officer in Charge, Ramu, 
21st June, 1939 (Kainantu File). 

A.N.G.A.U. Patrol Report No. 12 
of 44/45, November 1944 (Goroka 
file). 

A.N.G.A.U. Patrol Report No. 17 
of 44/45, December 1944 (Goroka File). 
A.N.G.A.U. Patrol Report, 6th 
December, 1944 (Kundiawa File). 

A.N.G.A.U. Patrol Report No. 19 
of 44/45, January, 1945 (Goroka File) 
A.N.G.A.U. Patrol Report No. 21 of 
44/1~5, 27th February, 1945 (Goroka File) • 
~.N.G.A.U. Patrol Report No. 11 of 
45/46, September - October, 1945 
(Goroka File). 

Patrol Report No. 2 of 48/49, March 
1949 (Gor~ka File). 

NOTE: Copies of those Patrol Reports are held at tho 

National Archives, Port moresby. Copies of the Kainantu File Reports are also held 

by the Land Titles Commission, Goroka. 

' 'I 



•' 
\ .. ·, 

-64-
. ~~ · 

LAND PURCHASE FILES (in chronological order): 

TAYLOR, J.L.: Attachment A: Land Required by Administration in Bena Sub-District, 19th June, 1948. File Gorokn, 34-4-1, l 
! TAYLOR, J~L~ (certify-ing officer): l 
I 

Transfer of Land, Goroka~ U.A~L 5 (N.S) dated 19th October, 1948, and regist­ered on 20th January, 1949. File Goroka, 34-4-1. 

EISENHAUER, D-.W.: ~Land Purchase, Goroka, 1949. (investigating officer) File Goroka 34/5/7. 

C A R E Y ' l A .- T--. : 
(investignting 

Agricultural Lease: Transfer of fficer) Land Known as Genauka, 1950, File Genauka 34/2/1. 

ffioARTHUR, J-.: 
(investigating 6rficer) 

i 

Purch ase of Additional Land known as Wonobeg Requirod by the Administrat­ion at Goroka as an Extension to the Existing Township Site, September, 1951: Wonobeg File (no number). 

mATER, H.J.: Town of Goroka: Purchase of Land (investigating officer) Known as Gamusigunagu, 1955. File Gamusigunagu, 34-4-1. 

N'OTE: All of these files are held in the Lands Section, District Office, Goroka. 
I 

LAND TITLES commiSSION FILES: 

ORKEN, m.B. (Presiding Senior Commissioner): 
Land Di s pute between Okiufa, Gomiufa and Kaveve Peopl es, Goroka, 6th -20th September, 1961. 

ORKEN, m.B. (Pr.esiding Senior Commissioner): 

NOTE: 

! Trnns-Zokizoi Land ~ispute, Goroka, 1969. 

These files are held at the Land Titles Commission Office, Goroka. 



:,1 

·, 

•' 

OTHER FILES: 

LEAHY, 

J .. L.: 
! 

J.L.: 

-65-

Circular letter dated 1st November, 1946, advisi~g Assistant District Officers of his assumption of control of the District. 

Application for a Trading Licence, 26th June, 1948. File 34/2/1-13. 

NOTE: Thes J files aro held at the District Office, Goroka. I 
i 

TAPES AND TR~NSCRIPTS OF TALKS AND INTERVIEWS: 

Al-AE (of Ko 1oka): Notes of Interview, 7th August, 1973, 
I 

BLACK;J.R.: 

II 
11 " 

CLELAND, R.: 

' I '. 

Notes of conversations, may, 1972. 
Personal communication, 1st September, 1973. 

Personal communication, 5th may, 1973. 

ENKA (retired Sergeant):Tape of interview, 5th September~ 1973. 

FLIERL, Rev. J. : . 

GELEPETA!YlELAUHO: 
(of Seigu) 

" 

GOLDHARDT, Rey. R.: 

GOPIE (of Kama): 

HANimO (of Faniufa): 

KYNGDON, L.G.R.: 

Personal communication, 28th July, 1973. 

Transcript of interview conducted by C.T.C. students Sister m, Vianney and mr. Henry !Ylatsanki, June, 1972. 
Te.pe of interview, 5th Septemb er, 1973. 

Notes of interview at Kainantu, October, 1972. 

Tape of interview, 13th September, 1973. 

Notes of interview 1 27th Juno, 1973. · 

Personal communicAtion, 6th Sopt omb er, 1973. 



1·' . , 

I• 

·f 
~1 ; 

·,· 

l't10HA, Bepi: 

NEGI, Osiso: 
(of F aniufa) 

NIALL, H.: 

ORKEN, IYI.B.: 

PALIU: 
(retired Constable) ., 

ROBINSON, General 
Bernard: 

SIPPO, William: 

SUBI, Soso: 
(of Asariufa) 

TAYLOR, J.L.: 

von FLECKENSTEIN: 

-66-

Notos of interview, 14th June, 1973 
Tape of address given at Goroka Teachers ' College, 16th July, 1973. 
Tape of address given at Goroka Teachers College, 25th July, 1973 • 

Notes of interview, 10th Septembor 1 1973. 

Personal communication, 19th July, 1973. 

Notes of conversation, 22nd August, 1973. 

Tape of addross given at Goroka Teachers College, June, 1972. 

Notes of interview, 27th Juno, 1972. 

Notes of interview at Port moresby, 14th August, 1973. 

Notes of interviow, 2nd August, 1973. 

Notes of conversation, 25th June, 1973. 

Notes of conv~rsations, August, 1973. 

ZAWD,P. nnd SEKIRIHA,A.:Notos of interview, 31st August, 1973. (of Aketauka) ; · 

~: 

2. 

J.H~L~ Armitstead's A.N.G.A.U. map of the Bonn Bena -Goroka area ~ march, 1945. (Goroka file, National Archives, Pbrt moresby). 
J 

map of Goro ~ a, showing tribal and clan boundaries, 1948 Town Boundary and 1972 Town Boundary. I 
(map compilbd by the author, based on inf ormnt ion containcd on William Sippo's 1948 Sketch map of Goroka (attached to U.A.L 5 (N.S) Transfer Documont) and Department of Lands, Survoys and ffiines 1972 map, 'Town of Goroka'.) 

( \ (;' 

~~,I :? ,,..... // r' 

I ' ~ ) 

I I I 

:> 

' ! 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
11' 
I 
I 
I 
! 

lk 


	Title page

	Sources and Acknowledgements

	Contents

	Introduction

	Chapter 1.  "The Ambient Natives"
	Okiufa

	Komiufa (Gomiufa)

	Seigu

	Kami

	Faniufa

	Kama

	Asariufa

	Goroka -- The Ground of the Ancestors

	Bibliography for Chapter One




